
 
Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | 

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx  

MEETING AGENDA   

Martin Luther King, Jr. Civic Center                         September 4, 2019 
2180 Milvia Street, 1st Floor                                                     7:00 PM 
Commission Secretary:  Peter Radu (981-5435) 

All agenda items are for Discussion and Possible Action. 

1. Roll Call. 
2. Public Comment on agenda and non-agenda items. 
3. Approval of Minutes from August 14, 2019 [Attachment 1]. 
 
Updates/Action Items:  
4. Agenda Approval. 
5. Discussion and possible action on two budget recommendations for FY19/20 

Measure P funds [Attachments 2-5]. 
6. Discussion and possible action to adopt a budget recommendation report to Council 

[Attachment 6]. 
7. Discussion and possible action of best practices letter to Council. 
8. Discussion and possible action on the policy framework proposal, “Housing for a 

Diverse, Equitable, and Creative Berkeley,” referred by Council [Attachment 7]. 
9. Discussion and possible action on drafting a Homeless Services Panel of Experts 

workplan for FY2020. 
10. Propose agenda items for next meeting. 
11. Adjourn 
  
Attachments: 

1. Minutes from regular meeting of August 14, 2019. 
2. Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds - Budget A. 
3. Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds - Budget B. 
4. Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral 

Delivery. 
5. Integrating Feedback from the Homeless and into Service Excellence Report on 

CBO Convening and Next Steps Feedback from Business Associations. 
6. Budget Recommendation Report to Council. 
7. Housing for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley Framework. 

 
Public Comment Policy:  
Members of the public may speak on any items on the Agenda and items not on the Agenda 
during the initial Public Comment period. Members of the public may not speak more than once 
on any given item. The Chair may limit public comments to 3 minutes or less. 
 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Homeless Commission Meeting Agenda  
August 14, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 
 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | 

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx  

Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the Commission regarding any item on this 
agenda will be made available for public inspection at Health, Housing & Community Services 
Department located at 2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor.   
 
COMMUNITY ACCESS INFORMATION  
This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible location. To request a disability-related 
accommodation(s) to participate in the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please 
contact the Disability Services specialist at 981-6342 (V) or 981-6345 (TDD) at least 3 business 
days before the meeting date.  Please refrain from wearing scented products to this meeting. 
  
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will 
become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible through the City’s website.  
Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are not 
required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will 
become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact 
information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal Service or in 
person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee.  If you do not want your 
contact information included in the public record, please do not include that information in your 
communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant board, commission or committee 
for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community Services Department does not take a 
position as to the content.  Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees 
are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, which are accessible 
through the City’s website.  Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other 
contact information are not required, but if included in any communication to a City board, 
commission or committee, will become part of the public record.  If you do not want your e-mail 
address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications 
via U.S. Postal Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or 
committee.  If you do not want your contact information included in the public record, please do 
not include that information in your communication.  Please contact the secretary to the relevant 
board, commission or committee for further information.  The Health, Housing & Community 
Services Department does not take a position as to the content.   
 
ADA Disclaimer “This meeting is being held in a wheelchair accessible 
location. To request a disability-related accommodation(s) to participate in 
the meeting, including auxiliary aids or services, please contact the 
Disability Services Specialist at 981-6418 (V) or 981-6347 (TDD) at least 
three business days before the meeting date. Please refrain from wearing 
scented products to this meeting.” 

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Berkeley Homeless  
Services Panel of Experts 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info |

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx 

MEETING MINUTES 
August 14, 2019 

1. Roll Call: 7:01 PM

Present:  Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil (absent 7:01-7:05), Prado,
Sutton, Trotz (absent 7:01-7:05)

Absent:  None.
Staff:  Carnegie, Lee, Radu
Council:  McCormick
Public: 18

2. Comments from the Public:  11.
Update/Action Items

3. Agenda Approval.
4. Action: M/S/C Jordan/Carrasco to move item #9 (Discussion on presentation from

Berkeley Unified School District representatives regarding funding for youth and
family programs) to the first item on the agenda (after agenda approval), and to
approve the agenda as amended.

Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Sutton, Trotz.
 Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

5. Approval of Minutes from July 3, 2019.
Action: M/S/C Trotz/Prado to approve the minutes of July 3, 2019 as written.

Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Trotz.
Noes: None.  Abstain: cheema, Sutton. Absent: None. 

6. Discussion on presentation from Berkeley Unified School District representatives
regarding funding for youth and family programs.
Discussion; no action taken.

7. Election/Re-election of Vice Chair.

Action: M/S/C Jordan/Metz to nominate and re-elect Yesica Prado as Vice Chair.

Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Sutton, Trotz.
 Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

8. Review and possibly take action on the recommendation from the Mission and
Budget Subcommittee on the draft mission statement for the Panel.

Attachment 1

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Homeless Services Panel of Experts - Minutes  
8-14-19 
 

A Vibrant and Healthy Berkeley for All 
 

2180 Milvia Street, 2nd Floor, Berkeley, CA  94704    Tel: 510. 981.5435    TDD: 510.981.6903    Fax: 510. 981.5450 
E-mail: hspe@cityofberkeley.info | 

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx  

 
Action: M/S/C cheema/Carrasco to add the clause, “in general” to the sentence “we 
will not make recommendations on the specific agencies to receive funding, nor run 
our own proposal process, recognizing this as a role for staff and the Council.” 
 
Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Jordan, Prado, Sutton, Trotz. 
           Noes: Metz, Patil, Gale.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 
 
Action: M/S/C cheema/Carrasco to adopt the mission statement as amended. 
 
Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Sutton, Trotz. 
           Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

9. Hold discussion, and possibly take action, on budget recommendations. 
 

Action: M/S/C cheema/Prado to extend the meeting to 9:15 PM. 
 
Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Sutton, Trotz. 
           Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 
 
Action: M/S/C cheema/Prado to extend the meeting to 9:20 PM. 
 
Vote:  Ayes: Carrasco, cheema, Gale, Jordan, Metz, Patil, Prado, Sutton, Trotz. 
           Noes: None.  Abstain: None. Absent: None. 

Meeting adjourned at 9:20 PM.  

 
Minutes Approved on:  __________               

Peter Radu, Commission Secretary:                                      

mailto:hspe@cityofberkeley.info
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/Commissions/Commissions__Homeless_Services_Panel_of_Experts.aspx


Budget A

Recommendations for General Fund Allocations Associated with Measure P - By Category and Activity 

As the total amount of funding available is unknown, recommendations are based on a 
percentage of funding to each category. Estimated amounts and rounded amounts, 
which are provided to easily show relative size of investment, but may vary based 
on actual amounts available.  

Within investment areas, activities are listed in the order of priority, and the 
Panel generally recommends higher priority is given to these activities over those that are 
listed further down the list. Activities that are not listed, such as encampment cleaning and 
street outreach were not recommended for funding at this time of funding allocation. 
Additional considerations and recommendations include subpopulation priorities and 
service types are considered within each activity. 

Priority Investment Area and 
Activities/program 
types 

Percent Estimated 
Amount 

Rounded 
Amount 

Additional 
Considerations/ 
Recommendations 

1. SHELTER AND
TEMPORARY
ACCOMMODATIONS

31% $1,230,208 $1,250,000 

1. Expand Shelter Capacity Adding new sheltering capacity may include the 
development of dedicated RV parking, use of 
Tiny Houses, or other means to increase shelter 
capacity. 

2. Support sanctioned
encampments
3. Invest in improving existing
shelter capacity

Increase services and housing connections in 
shelters so that they are able to function as 
Navigation Centers. 

2. PERMANENT HOUSING 29.5% $1,179,682 $1,200,000 
Permanent Supportive Housing 
Subsidies (Tenant-based) and 
services 

Establish a priority for these permanent 
supportive housing subsidies and services for 
Berkeley unsheltered families with children who 
otherwise qualify for Permanent Supportive 
Housing.; Establish a 10% set-aside for 
qualifying Transition-Age youth (18-25 years).  

3. IMMEDIATE STREET
CONDITIONS AND HYGIENE

14% $555,578 $550,000 

1. Toilets and Hygiene Stations
2. Lockers

4. SUPPORTIVE SERVICES 13% $515,894 $500,000 
1. Health Care services Health care services dedicated to people 

experiencing homelessness, which may 
include street medicine. 

Attachment 2



Priority Investment Area and 
Activities/program 
types 

Percent Estimated 
Amount 

Rounded 
Amount 

Additional 
Considerations/ 
Recommendations 

2. Employment and Income
Development Activities

Activities may include job development and 
support as well as benefits advocacy and other 
services to improve incomes 

3. Substance Use Treatment Substance use treatment services dedicated for 
persons who are experiencing homelessness 

5. SHORT/ MEDIUM TERM
HOUSING SUBSIDIES

10% $396,841 $400,000 

Flexible housing subsidies Establish a priority for unsheltered families with 
children in the Berkeley Unified School District. 
Establish a 10% set-aside for Transition-Age 
youth. Flexible housing subsidies may include 
prevention, diversion or rapid exit support. 

6. INFRASTRUCTURE 2.5% $99,210 $100,000 
1. Training ~80% Use resources in this category for training for 

Berkeley community-based organizations working 
with people who are homeless. 

2. Evaluation ~20% Use resources in this category to ensure that the 
experiences of service users are captured and 
considered in performance evaluation 

TOTAL 100% $3,968,414 $4,000,000 



Recommendations for First Year Measure P Allocations 

FY19/20 

Estimated Amount $5,500,000 

Already Committed $1,531,586 

Remaining to Allocate $3,968, 414 

Priority Activity Estimated Cost Percentage Description 

1 Dynamic Housing Subsidies  1

and Support Services   for 2

Homeless Families and 
Children 

$1,567,207 40% Costs are based on an 
estimated 52 households 
served with  an average 
housing subsidy of $2,000 
per month combined with 
case management costs of 
$500 per month over 12 
months.  

2 Dynamic Housing Subsidies 
and Support Services for 

Chronically Homeless 
Individuals  

$1,008,000 25% An estimated 42 
individuals served with an 
average housing subsidy 
of $1,500 per month 
combined with case 
management costs of 
$500 per month over 12 
months. 

3 Shelter Services $1,393,207 35% (1) Support for RV and
vehicle communities
through repairs,
maintenance, and legal
services, (2) funding for
Tiny Houses, and (3)
adding services to shelters
to function as navigation
centers.

Total $3,968,414 100% 

1 Rental subsidies to be administered by a community based agency with experience in housing search and subsidy 
administration. Dynamic housing subsidies range in cost and duration on a case by case basis. Subsidies operate as 
a rapid rehousing subsidy for those requiring temporary support and as a permanent subsidy for those in need of 
long term support. Funds recovered through the permanent rehousing of an individual or household are to be 
reinvested into additional rehousing efforts.  
2 Support Services to be provided to households by an experienced community based organization. The case 
management ratio should not exceed 1 case manager for every 20 clients. Intensive support services to include, 
but not be limited to, support with employment and income, mental health and wellness, or substance abuse 
treatment.  

Budget B
Attachment 3



To: Mayor and City Council Ad-Hoc Committee on Homelessness, 
City Manager and Staff 

From: boona cheema, Elliot Halpern, Jiro Arase-Barham, Jacquelyn McCormick 

Re: Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 
Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery 

The City of Berkeley has developed a comprehensive and competent continuum of care for the 
homeless, which includes CBOs, City and County housing and support services, and they have the 
potential to meet the diverse service needs of our homeless population. However, we were unable to 
find a document or report which provided an in-depth analysis of the current capacity, needs of 
the subpopulations, identified gaps, quality of service, including the input of the homeless 
community, other stakeholders and the service providers. This is the work we have been charged 
to do by the Mayor. 

People entering homelessness and those who are chronically homeless require assistance and 
services that are well coordinated, respectful and appropriate. From intake to referral to case 
management and then placement in housing, the process needs to become more seamless and not 
wracked with referrals back and forth.  This discourages consumers, and many give up on the process. 
It is a revolving door that frustrates the homeless, service providers and the larger community that 
wants results. 

Currently we are working in a service system that has very limited access to housing, employment and 
treatment - the entire system struggles to find appropriate shelter and permanent housing for our 
homeless population. A homeless person can spend as much as 2 years to exit the system. Some have 
been homeless for decades as barriers exist that keep them from entering services and shelters and 
meeting the requirements of eligibility and shelter standards. 

The basics for a high-functioning service system are already in place. The portfolio of services that 
currently exist are capable of absorbing the need of our homeless population with right-sizing, 
better coordination, and networking. As you develop a plan to address the urgent need to create 
new affordable housing and shelter beds, or adding new services, we recommend that efforts are made 
to build on the current system by providing additional resources to CBOs in Berkeley to increase 
their capacity for housing, employment, health and treatment services.  

It is critical to understand the subpopulations among the homeless and their special needs. 
Coordinated services need to respond to these populations with the expertise they have gained over 
the years. In Berkeley we have youth, seniors, disabled, people ready and wanting to work and engage 
in recovery from drugs and alcohol and mental illness, families, survivors of domestic violence, 
undiagnosed mental illness, people with serious health problems, veterans, and people who just 
became homeless for the first time due to job loss or other circumstances.  In every situation, being 
homeless and on the street is traumatic – survival is an individual’s #1 priority. Layering additional 
responsibility and requirement on their already overwhelming situation invites failure, further trauma 
and perpetuates homelessness. 

This work needs to include stronger feedback mechanisms through which our homeless population can 
contribute toward informing this effort. We believe that this will happen if consumers feel safe and 
invited to provide suggestions so that the system will become more agile and responsive to their needs. 

Attachment 4



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

2 

2 

 
We believe that the following steps can be taken and fast-tracked to minimize bureaucracy and ease 
the trauma experienced by our homeless community. We strongly recommend that this committee 
introduce a council item that includes: 
 

 That all shelter beds that have been opened for the winter remain open year-round so 
people are not sent back into the streets and fall out of the system and care they are 
receiving.  

 Ensure service providers are regularly visiting the shelters to intake consumers and connect 
them with services. 

 Work with existing service providers who have master leases and add more resources so 
they can bring landlords to the table and create additional beds and units. 

 Provide incentives to landlords who participate in the Section 8 and Shelter Plus Care 
programs, rapid rehousing, HUD and City of Berkeley subsidy programs. 

 
Other Suggestions: 
 

1) That peaceful encampments be recognized as a part of the solution and a sanctioned 
encampment and development of tiny homes remain on the table. 

2) Before new initiatives are introduced, current capacity must be added to existing resources 
and coordination improved. This is faster, cheaper and uses current resources to 
maximum efficacy. 

3) Barriers which exist for people living in their vehicles be removed. 
4) As much as possible fast-track the Berkeley Way/BFHP project. 
5) Community resistance and lack of knowledge should be addressed by our council and City 

leadership through proactive, immediate outreach and education. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In mid-January 2017 the Mayor’s office put together a small team consisting of Jacquelyn McCormick, 
Elliot Halpern, boona cheema and PhD candidate and intern, Jiro Arase-Barham.  This team was 
charged with: 

 gathering a high level of knowledge about the capacity of our local community-based providers 
serving those who are homeless in Berkeley 

 identifying gaps in services 
 understanding the challenges providers are facing 
 evaluating the efficacy of our CBOs and the potential for capacity building, coordination and 

networking 
 quantifying the funding needs of our CBOs who are a critical part of the fabric of service delivery 

 
The significance of our role lies in providing in-depth analysis is understanding a system that is 
informed by multiple sources and strengthened by regularly talking to unhoused members of the 
Berkeley community. 
 

Tasks Assigned 
 Read all the requests for proposals sent to the Homeless Commission to make sure that service 

providers were not asked for duplicative information, get up-to-date information from which we 
could formulate our questions (see Attachment 1) and proceed with gathering information that 
would inform the Ad Hoc Committee in its deliberations. 

 Meet with at least 10 providers and have face-to-face conversations with the Executive 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

3 

3 

Directors and key staff, giving them an opportunity to inform and help us understand the 
complexities of systems, both internal and external, which play a role in the efficacy of providing 
housing and supportive services, learn how they are funded and gather information relevant to 
developing recommendations for the Ad Hoc Committee. (50% completed) 

 Speak with other stakeholders including members of various commissions, City and County 
staff, organizations and advocates who are not part of the continuum of care but provide 
services  (In Process). 

 Facilitate two listening sessions between the homeless, the Ad Hoc Committee and City Staff. 
(Pending - looking at models of how best to conduct these). 

 
EARLY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The HUB 
Countywide Continuum of Care coordinated entry system (see Attachment 2) is here to stay. However, 
the understanding as to who will be doing what, when and at what level is an ongoing process. We are 
in the first year of implementation in Berkeley of the coordinated entry system (HUB).  
 
Our visit to the Berkeley HUB was extremely informative and they have done a huge amount of work 
being the first of the HUBs to come online. Like all new initiatives of this scale they are having to learn 
very fast and are engaged with EveryOne Home and the City of Berkeley to deliver on the HUD 
mandate. However, a great deal of work still needs to be done in the area of coordinating with the 
providers to whom referrals are made for shelter, transitional housing, case management, income 
advocacy services, employment, health care, mental health care and recovery services and ensuring 
homeless consumers get to the right place to get the right services. 
 
CBOs that collectively provide a comprehensive set of services to our homeless population report that 
they are not serving consumers at the maximum capacity due to lack of referrals and coordination. 
Many barriers are experienced by consumers, including the limited office hours at the HUB (9am – 
noon and 1pm – 4pm). Folks on the streets get easily discouraged when they go into a service provider 
just to find out that they will now be referred to another and then get bounced back to the provider who 
made the initial referral. The journey to housing can be long, and a person can lose their place in line 
due to the scoring system. 
 
Twelve Berkeley CBOs are also participating in the HOME STRETCH, an Alameda County BHCS/ 
EveryOne Home initiative that places people in over 1,800 units of Permanent Supportive Housing as 
units become vacant. Placement in housing is based on eligibility and acuity of need and each 
individual is “scored” based on mandated criteria. The verification requirements needed to enter this 
system are extensive, and the homeless need significant support from staff in the participating 
organizations to get all the required documentation.  
 
We have collected significant feedback from CBOs, the homeless, and other stakeholders who are 
participating in this system, and will be sharing that feedback, in detail, with the HUB/BFHP and City 
Staff.  

 
Recommendations: 
 
 

1. Create opportunities for staff of all the participating organizations that receive referrals from the 
HUB to create a culture of excellence in service delivery. The Homeless Coordinator in the City 
can be a central part of this effort. 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

4 

4 

2. Station a staff member from each CBO at the Hub to streamline the referral process and facilitate 
collaboration. 

3. Increase hours and provide on-call services 24/7, 365 days. 
4. Map all services provided by all CBOs.  Ensure through sharing of information that all program 

changes are immediately shared with all CBOs through a central communication point. 
5. Improve the referral system after intake and assessment with the intent to shepherd a consumer 

through the system and proactively assist in gathering all required documentation.  This would 
lessen the load placed on the homeless person of navigating through a complex and 
documentation-driven system while trying to survive one day at a time. 

 
Employment Services 
CBOs providing job assistance, search and placement for their target populations have some success, 
but not in significant numbers. This would be an area of service that takes less time to implement 
compared to developing housing and these CBOs need capacity building. At one time this area of 
service (employment resources, training and job placement, vocational services) was more available to 
homeless people in Berkeley; over time as resources diminished, so did the services. 
 

Recommendation: 
 

1. Release an RFP to expand these services 
 
Challenges to CBO Leadership and Coordination Improvement 
We have dedicated, vibrant, smart and knowledge-based leadership in our CBOs. Highly qualified and 
skilled, they are able to maneuver through complex funding conditions and emerging changes in 
systems..  Funding cycles are both grueling and time intensive.  This process lasts many months and 
rarely results in any change to the funding levels. Cost of living increases are rare and the work of the 
providers keeps growing. Funding decisions often require that they end up “robbing peter to pay paul” 
to balance the budgets These requirements impact the time that could be spent coordinating between 
organizations and improving service delivery. 
 
All current contracts are outcome-based in order to maintain funding. Because of the housing crisis and 
cost of living in the Bay Area, the hardest outcomes for all CBOs to deliver are placement in affordable 
permanent housing with supportive services and also gainful employment with livable wages. 
 
Organizations dedicated to getting people enrolled in public benefits, including General Assistance, 
SSI, CalWORKS, Veterans, Medi-Cal and others are competent in their work and have well trained 
staff, but the coordination is lacking and consumers shuffle back and forth between providers.  
Additionally, many CBOs, as well as the City, are doing “outreach” but there is no established outreach 
criteria, accountability or coordination of activity or return of information. 
 

Recommendations:  
 

1. Remove the inefficiencies and duplication in the funding system. The City of Berkeley process 
takes 5 months which includes the Homeless Commission, Staff and City Manager 
recommendations and then Council approval. At each level the CBOs and their consumers and 
board members spend hundreds of hours in lobbying, presentations and public hearings.  

2. The Executive level of our CBOs need to work more closely with each other.  This effort could be 
facilitated by the City Homeless Coordinator with participation from the Mayor’s office. Once 
hired, and we believe this is a critical position, this person should be charged with bringing 
everyone around one table and creating an environment of partnership, cooperation, 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

5 

5 

coordination and common purpose to help increase and better use resources.  
3. The referral system to these organizations needs to be improved and there needs to be 

additional support provided to the homeless population to ensure they are getting the connection 
to resources they need. 

4. Create outreach criteria, coordinate efforts and centralize information obtained from the field. 
5. Invest in staffing these organizations to help coordinate applications and accompanying 

documentation.  If this was accomplished, CBOs would stay in touch with the homeless who are 
on the street. 

6. The measure of success cannot be based just on housing – connection to resources is key, and 
additional metrics need to be developed. 

 
Help CBOs Enhance Funding 
All CBOs have multiple funding sources from diverse funders, but many funds are restricted to a 
specific segment of our homeless populations.  There are great funding gaps that existing in providing 
services – especially for a person not designated as “chronically homeless”  This results in those 
consumers getting minimal, if any, help.   
 
The level of dependence on the City of Berkeley funds ranges from only 9% in a CBO providing health 
care, case management and housing services to 90% with another CBO providing dedicated shelter 
beds. The majority fall between 20% and 60%. It is important to point out that while two sections exist in 
Berkeley RFPs to report an organization’s total funding sources dedicated to Berkeley projects, these 
forms are completed slightly differently by applicants.  Further investigation is needed in this area, and 
if the Ad-Hoc committee wants verification we will require additional information from the CBOs. 
 
The funding sources beyond the City of Berkeley include foundations, corporations, faith-based 
institutions, Alameda County Behavioral Health Care Services, Alameda County Social Services 
Agency, State of California, HUD, Veterans Affairs, private donors, billing and other fees, events and 
sale of products produced by clients.  
 
The larger CBOs have development directors who are extremely sophisticated in applying to every RFP 
for which they qualify, producing highly competitive proposals at all levels. With the smaller CBOs this 
effort falls on the Executive Director. The biggest challenge for CBOs is raising funds from foundations 
and corporations. Many foundations are giving smaller grants in this area compared to the 90's and 
early 2000’s. It is important to understand that homelessness ranks in the low 90's in the list of 100 
issues donors fund.  
 
We are in the process of compiling a menu of Federal, State, County, foundation and corporation 
funding sources currently available.  It is anticipated that federal sources will decrease and no large 
foundation initiatives on ending homelessness currently exist in the Bay Area - but we could drive that 
change with a small team of volunteer outreach. 
 
Also, we believe wealthy individuals in Berkeley would give more to this issue if accurately informed. 
 

Recommendations: 
 

1. Establish a small team led by the Mayor, a council member, City Manager, service provider, 
homeless consumer, commission member, major donor and community member to meet with 
all major foundations, corporations and other entities with significant resources.  Such a meeting 
would “sell” the coordinated entry model and would demonstrate the large spectrum of options 
available to our homeless people while showing the funding challenges and restrictions that still 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

6 

6 

exist.  
2. A public education campaign, presenting a powerful and accurate narrative about the lives and 

challenges homeless people face needs to be developed. In partnership with homeless people, 
CBOs, including donors, faith based organizations and using interns from UCB this campaign 
would deliver a much needed message to Berkeley residents and businesses. 

3. Create an annual citywide fundraising campaign that would benefit all CBOs. 
 
Training of Staff 
Need for training is a high priority among our CBOs especially in organizations that hire people with 
lived experience of homelessness and personal trauma.  Areas identified by the CBOs include trauma 
informed care, motivational interviewing, cultural competence, and developing tools and skills so that 
the homeless population is served with respect and staff have extensive knowledge about the 
availability of existing appropriate resources. 
 

Recommendations: 
 

1. Establish funding for training and require specific coursework around the aforementioned areas 
identified. 

 
 
Initial Feedback from Consumers 
While there is intention in all CBOs to gather feedback from those who use services, there is no 
consistent effort made to do so. It is critical in any system of care to create a feedback loop from 
consumers through resolution and integrate that feedback into improved service delivery. A few CBOs 
excel at this effort and their models need to be adopted. 

 
Recommendations: 

 
1. Utilizing the team of CBO executive leadership, Homeless Coordinator and Mayor’s staff, review 

existing feedback models and recommend tools for implementation. 
 
In closing, we repeat that it is very important to understand the inner workings of the current system 
and listen to the larger homeless community, build on the current capacity and ensure funding exists so 
ALL levels of homeless needs are addressed.  Our work will continue and a final report will be 
presented to the Ad-Hoc Committee, City Council and the community.  We thank you for your support 
in this very important endeavor. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

7 

7 

 
Attachment 1: List of Questions for CBOs and Materials Requested 
  
Interview Questions 

1. Please give us an overview of your organization, including your methodology and the culture of 
your decision-making process. 

2. We would like to know your strengths in service delivery. 
3. Please tell us about the challenges at all levels of your organization, from Executive to frontline 

staff and for your consumers. 
4. What innovative strategies are you using in your organization and programs? What differentiate 

you from other providers? 
5. From your vantage point, what are the gaps (excluding permanent housing and jobs) in the 

services your consumers need? 
6. With the number of non-profits serving the homeless, why do people fall through the safety net? 

What are we not doing? 
7. How do you coordinate services with other providers in Berkeley? How often do you meet with 

them? 
8. Your take on City-provided services like mental health, health care, and public health: talk about 

access and quality of care provided by the City. 
9. Please share with us how you handle consumer suggestions and feedback for your services. 

How do you integrate them into your service delivery? 
10. In a given year, what kind of training do you make available to your staff? What kind of 

workshops do you hold to enhance the tools and skills for your consumers? 
11. The City will be hiring a Homeless Coordinator to work within the Housing and Community 

Services Department. What do you think the role of this person should be to enhance the 
services for the entire community? 

12. What services are your consumers receiving from the HUB? 
13. What levels of case management do you provide to your consumers? 
14. How many of your consumers have received housing through the HUB? 
15. Do you feel that the level of coordination with the HUB and your organization is adequate? Do 

you have suggestions for improving access to the HUB beyond intake? 
 
Requested Documents 

1. Organizational Charts 
a) Your Governance and Leadership structure (who reports to whom) 
b) Your supervising structure across the organization’s programs 
c) A copy of the house rules if you operate Emergency Shelter, Transitional Housing, 

and/or Permanent Housing 
2. A copy of your consumer satisfaction survey (if you have one) and a copy of the results of your 

last survey 
3. A current or past foundation/corporation proposal for general support 
4. A copy of your staff evaluation tool 
5. A copy of grievance procedures for: 

a) Staff 
b) Consumers 

6. Agency brochures 
7. A copy of intake form 
8. Criteria for services 
9. If applicable, case management assessment form(s) 

 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

8 

8 

 
 
 
Attachment 2: Description of the coordinated entry system 
 
The following descriptions are excerpts from Coordinated Entry & Housing Resource Centers Alameda 
County 2016 Initial Design Report, accessible at http://everyonehome.org/wp-
content/uploads/2016/02/AC-CES-Initial-Design-final.pdf 
 
Coordinated Entry is a standardized method to connect people experiencing homelessness to the 
resources available in a community. Like the triage desk in an Emergency Department of a hospital, a 
Coordinated Entry System (CES) assesses the conditions of the people who are in need and prioritizes 
them for assistance, including immediate shelter and a range of longer-term housing focused programs. 
(p. 3) 
 
 
 

 
 
 



Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly 

Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery  

 

 

9 

9 

 
(Courtesy of Berkeley Food and Housing Project) 



To: Mayor and City Council Ad-Hoc Committee on Homelessness, 
City Manager and Staff 

From: boona cheema, Elliot Halpern, Jiro Arase-Barham, Jacquelyn McCormick 

Re: Integrating Feedback from the Homeless and into Service Excellence 
Report on CBO Convening and Next Steps 
Feedback from Business Associations 

In Berkeley there are some1000 homeless persons which include singles, families with 
children, transitional age youth and seniors.  Approximately 40 percent of them (400 persons) 
face challenges that come with serious mental illness, substance abuse, survival from 
domestic violence, acute and chronic physical health conditions and serious trauma. It is our 
belief that at least 30% percent of our homeless (300 persons) will be permanently housed 
with wrap-around services within the next five years through the Coordinated Entry System 
(CES), the Whole Person Care initiative, Homestretch, and additional affordable housing units.  
And CES will continue to work to house the remaining that qualify under existing mandates to 
find them housing within the system. 

However, the remaining 60 percent of the homeless population who don’t meet the mandate 
qualifications, (600 persons), are fragile and vulnerable and also face these issues and others. 
The extreme stress of fixed, extremely low or no income, undiagnosed mental illness including 
PTSD, histories of incarceration, use of substances, issues which come with illiteracy, and 
untreated health problems add to their challenge of climbing out of homelessness. Unless their 
situations are addressed now, they continue to be at risk of chronic homelessness, economic 
instability and worsening health situations which become more persistent and debilitating with 
each additional year spent in homelessness, requiring even more resources to provider higher 
levels of care down the road. 

We all know that housing that is both permanent and affordable is the solution. The reality, 
however, is that people are on our streets for longer periods of time, at risk of criminalization 
and inclement weather.  Shelters currently do not provide the level of case management and 
support services needed to increase incomes, stabilize physical health, receive mental health 
care and recovery support; as a result, shelter living becomes a way of life that is 
disempowering. 

It is critical that while people live on the streets or in our shelters, we do everything possible to 
provide creative, multifaceted interventions and consumer-centered services so that they 
can receive the services they need: regain wellness, begin the recovery process, heal from 
their traumas and become more empowered around self-care while continuing to be resilient. 
By delaying responses to the need of this underserved group, we leave people spiraling 
downward and they will become the next round of frequent users of expensive hospital 
services and our criminal justice system. 

Attachment 5



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

2 

It is the belief of this committee that personal transformation can begin to happen while people 
are in encampments, single tents, in sleeping bags on the street, in our shelters and in other 
transitional living arrangements if economic opportunities, supportive services and 
resources are provided through consumer-centered approach across the services 
continuum. 
 
It is our observation that despite a multitude of homeless services in the City, there is a 
shortage of case management/coordination services. Coordination needs to be improved 
substantially to ensure service linkages for consumers. This requires investment in staff 
training and capacity building through peer counseling and homeless advocacy volunteers. 
 
Children who live in homelessness very quickly develop post-traumatic stress disorders, have 
problems with continuation of their education and behavioral issues. There are a substantial 
number of children and adolescents ranging from newborn to 21 years of age living in our 
shelters and transitional housing. Child/Youth centered services and supports are greatly 
needed yet not available to this very vulnerable population. 
 
As our population ages, more people become dependent on fixed income, putting them at risk 
of displacement. Commitment to service excellence requires us to proactively identify and 
provide for the need of seniors who are precariously housed, in our shelters and require 
supportive services. It is also imperative that we track older adults as a distinct age group in 
our homeless counts. 
 
Our findings are based on real human conditions and experiences and grounded in strategies 
that will enable our single folk and families with children to be supported regardless of where 
they sleep. We are confident that these needs will be addressed in the near future with the 
addition of our Homeless Coordinator, by the leadership in our Health, Housing and 
Community Services Department, and the commitment of our Mayor and City Council to make 
Berkeley a model for Alameda County. 
 
 
METHODOLOGY 
1. Anonymous, self-administered survey 

We developed an 18-question survey with Likert-type multiple choices and a comment 
section for each question (Appendix A). The survey covers topics including program 
accessibility, cultural competency, self-determination, staff attitudes, and overall 
satisfaction to capture consumers’ experiences with the City’s homeless services. 100 
survey forms were passed out, and 42 current consumers completed the survey in March 
and April 2017. It should be noted that this is a self-selected group who have accessed 
homeless services and does not represent the entire homeless population. 

 
2. Face-to-face interviews 

We visited 10 program sites and also talked with people in the streets, in the evenings and 
early morning, and spoke directly with approximately 150 consumers. 16 were Transitional 
Age Youth (TAY), 30 were female heads of household, and the rest were single men and 
women. The interviews were semi-structured with a set of prepared questions; however, 
consumer responses directed the course of conversation to gain insights on their 
experience. 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

3 

 
3. Group sessions 

Two group sessions were held. At one of the sites, a sense of community had developed 
among the shelter guests, and the group format allowed us to learn from their more candid 
discussions. At the other site, 8 guests were given a document on the Pathways Project in 
advance so that informed feedback could be obtained. 
 

 
FINDINGS 
A majority of the consumers we talked with expressed gratitude for the services they are 
receiving. The survey responses indicate that most consumers are satisfied with service 
locations, the level of introduction to program rules, the ability to set their own goals, and 
cultural sensitivity (Appendix B). However, they also emphasized that their needs are not being 
fully met due to lack of coordination and misinformation. While the basic needs of shelter and 
food may be fulfilled, the current system falls short in supporting people experiencing 
homelessness to move further along in their goals of getting housed, receiving income support, 
gainful employment, and safety and security for the family. There is a strong need for 
empowerment; homeless people have the capacity for self-sufficiency, and will be successful 
when opportunities and resources are available to them. “Don’t treat us like children” is a 
recurring theme that we heard at multiple sites. 
 
Service coordination 
Shelter guests pointed out two major signs that the level of service coordination is subpar. One 
is vacancies in shelter and transitional housing. It is puzzling and upsetting for them to see 
unused beds when they know there are people who desperately need service. The other is the 
continuum of case management services once accepted into a shelter program. Consumers 
are caught between providers each insisting that the other is responsible for providing case 
management, as a result they are unable to receive crucial support they need.   
 
Insufficient and “alternative” information about services 
Clarity is needed on the array of homeless services offered in the City and at the County level. 
Consumers find the service criteria to be “mysterious.” This is especially true for referrals to 
Home Stretch and case management services. Consumers are reasonably informed of the 
priorities in the CES, and sounded indignant that no clear explanation was given when they did 
not qualify for services. A woman with children in transitional housing was told that being in 
transitional housing for over 90 days disqualified her from permanent supportive housing, 
although this may not be the case. A male shelter guest who called the HUB for general 
information encountered curt responses from a staff member who ended the call prematurely 
without providing requested information. The lack of up-to-date information on service 
availability is a source of frustration for consumers and there was an overwhelming suggestion 
that services at shelter sites, available on an established schedule, would help tremendously.  
 
Advocacy and Grievance Resolution 
Consumers count on program staff to understand their needs and competently guide them to 
achieve their goals. However, some experience a lack of advocacy and empowerment. 
Consumers feel that staff does not pay enough attention to their individual needs, and acts as 
a “knowledge keeper” instead of providing accurate information so that consumers can take 
action on their own. In one instance, a caseworker did not show for an appointment or respond 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

4 

to subsequent calls from a consumer who needed assistance in obtaining an ID and General 
Assistance. When consumers express grievances, the agency policies and procedures are not 
always honored.  
 
Housing 
For those who are not eligible for permanent supportive housing, the prospect of finding a 
home is bleak. Some shelter guests work two jobs to save money for housing. A woman had to 
move out of an affordable rental because her SSI was not enough to cover the rent. Even 
those who meet the criteria for Home Stretch encounter significant barriers. A consumer 
submitted her application for Home Stretch and followed up to check on the application status; 
however, she has not heard back and is afraid that her application is “sitting in limbo.” Another 
expressed exasperation as she “keep getting bounced down on the list.” In some cases, 
consumers were concerned that the transition from shelter to independent housing might be 
too drastic, and expressed the need for ongoing support pre- and post-placement. 
 
Employment services 
Many, if not most, homeless people wish to work to the best of their abilities. As a male shelter 
guest articulated, “There is a built-in workforce here. Use it, invest in it!” Services that offer 
mentorships, internships, and job placement are in high demand. Job fairs tailored to TAY and 
childcare for family shelter guests were identified as needs specific to these groups. 
 
Daytime drop-in services 
Shelter guests face a daily struggle of having no place to go during the day. Daytime could be 
spent more productively if they have a place that is consistently available and allows them to 
access a range of services on site. This is specific and critical need for TAY clients.  
Expanding shelter hours to allow for service appointments early in the morning and later in the 
day are something that needs to be considered. 
 
Medical/behavioral health care 
Accessing medical and behavioral health care can be challenging when shelter guests move 
away from their previous providers in search of housing opportunities. Finding new providers 
and scheduling appointments are difficult, especially with specialists. Some consumers resort 
to the use of alcohol and other drugs to cope with pain or depend on emergency room visits. 
Declining health adds to the already stressful life of consumers and causes them to worry that 
they may not be able to maintain housing even if it becomes available. Shelter guests want 
primary and behavioral health care accessible, and want to see the capacity of respite beds 
increased at emergency shelters for those who temporarily need a place to rest all day to 
recover from an illness.  Patients should not be released from the hospital in the middle of the 
night as most shelters are closed due to curfews. Resources such as immediate/urgent care at 
Herrick may be underutilized as consumers are not aware of them.  Alameda Health Care 
Services mobile units for the homeless need to expand into Berkeley. 
 
Immediate needs 
Transportation emerged as a major need for the homeless. Not having money for public 
transit, inconvenient service locations, and having to travel with young children are some of the 
reasons that make it difficult for them to access services and many give up on the system. 
Lack of access to restrooms also makes their daily life more challenging. Emergency rent 
assistance was identified as a preventive need to address the anti-displacement issue. 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

5 

 
Feedback on the Pathways Project 
The group session participants welcomed the concept for STAIR Center and Bridge Living 
Community with reservation, as one consumer stressed that he liked it “in theory.” Consumers 
want to see that 1) services are well-coordinated and available on site; 2) unique needs of 
subgroups (e.g., women, men, families, and people with mental health challenges) are 
addressed and reflected in allocation and separation of spaces; 3) it is staffed with case 
managers who are resourceful and experienced to work with diverse group of people; and 4) 
pathways from a Bridge Living Community to permanent housing are identified. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Comprehensive services for those living on the street and in encampments  
a) In addition to the interdisciplinary HOTT (Homeless Outreach and Treatment 

Team), which has a specific mandate, we need to support both the contracted 
(service providers) and the non-contracted outreach efforts like Consider the 
Homeless.  A supportive services team that could consist of trained 
volunteers and peers (to expand capacity), could augment outreach efforts.  
Outreach could also be expanded to include the Ambassadors from DBA and 
TBID.  All outreach should be consistent and coordinated. 

 
b) All street outreach workers need to have easy access to first aid kits, water to 

distribute, sleeping bags, energy bars and other simple ready-to-eat food 
items, garbage bags, and gloves so that they can take care of immediate 
issues, build relationships and create goodwill.  

 
c) When an encampment is dismantled, this needs to be done according to the 

new policy, by which people’s belongings are respected and an alternate site 
to move to is suggested. 

 
d) Add porta potties and garbage pick-up as soon as possible.  This will relieve 

the unsanitary living conditions of the homeless and provide relief to the 
neighborhoods. 

 
e) Consider adding more peer based support to reach more of our homeless 

population and be reflective of current mandates. 
 

2. Rich blend of services in the shelters 
a) Services which address the residents safety, health, mental health, recovery, 

social and material needs be integrated into programming and consistently 
delivered in the shelters; these could include support groups, housing 
readiness groups, children’s services, women’s health, job readiness and 
others. 

 
b) A supportive services team of uniquely qualified staff out of CBOs can be 

created and charged with providing support groups, support with ordering 
birth certificates, ID’s, coordinating transportation, paying for prescriptions, 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

6 

and obtaining medical and mental health care.  The housed population of 
Berkeley possesses many of the skills needed to serve people in our shelters. 
Volunteers, professionals and peers need to be organized and deployed to 
provide these services.  

 
c) Staff and volunteers need to be trained with a focus in advocacy and 

supporting self-reliance for our homeless population and outreach. 
 

3. Children’s services 
In our shelters and transitional housing facilities where children live, there is an effort to 
provide child-centered services. Almost all the sites have indoor and outdoor space for 
children; however, the programs they offer are limited. 

a) Our CBOs should grow their pool of volunteers.   Volunteers could come into the 
programs to spend time with children, help with school work, play, do art 
activities, and monitor the play areas activities.  This will give the children access 
to community members who live outside the shelters, provide mentoring and 
further engage the community in their support for our homeless service 
providers.  

 
4. Seniors 

Older adults are more likely to experience declining health, limited mobility, and isolation 
compared to other age groups. While the community offers a variety of services and 
social opportunities to this age group, accessing them while staying at a shelter is 
difficult. 

a) Transportation services need to be increased for homeless seniors. Shuttle 
services between shelters and the senior centers and rides provided by 
volunteers may be considered to meet this need. 

  
 
FEEDBACK FROM THE BUSINESS COMMUNITY 
We met with Downtown Business Association and Telegraph Business Improvement District to 
hear about their engagement with homeless residents. Both organizations operate an 
Ambassador Program that places ambassadors on the street daily to monitor and modify 
inappropriate conduct as well as provide helpful information. The business community wants 
immediate enforcement of municipal codes to universally address problem behavior such as 
open alcohol and substance use, smoking, and consistent loitering, and supports the adoption 
and distribution of conduct agreements for public spaces. 
 
Approximately half of the homeless in the Downtown and Telegraph areas are reportedly 
chronically homeless while the others are transient. When homeless people move along, 
spaces vacated by them are quickly filled by newcomers. The business community 
understands that the fundamental solutions to homelessness is housing; however, 
“responsible” use of streets is of great concern to them, and they urge that compassion be 
balanced with enforcement and that better metrics be developed to accurately understand 
homelessness in the City and evaluate progress. They are also open to discussing how to 
better utilize their Ambassador Programs for outreach and service connection. 
 
 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

7 

CONVENING OF THE CBO MEETING 
On April 18th, Mayor Arreguin convened the first CBO meeting, attended by 13 CBO leaders, 2 
councilmembers, and representatives from HHCS and BHA. The group received a briefing on 
the current status, capacity, and needs for homeless services in Berkeley, and began 
conversations on how to streamline coordination. The participants shared ideas on person-
centered care, improved access, improved assessment, appropriate assignment, and 
expanding housing opportunities and services.  They also discussed expanding the group to 
include members from our faith based community, BPD, business community, service 
organizations, advocates and homeless leaders in order to ensure input from the entire 
community. 
 
Three subcommittees will explore specific topics and report back to the group at the next 
meeting, which is scheduled for May 23, 2017: 

• Services menu 
• Community engagement 
• Engaging the homeless voice 

 
 
NEXT STEPS 
We will continue to gain a more comprehensive understanding of the current system by talking 
to: 

- Berkeley Police Department 
- Neighborhood groups and councils 
- Additional providers such as BYA and Toolworks 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

8 

Appendix A: Client satisfaction survey 
 
1. How did you hear of this service? 

 Referral  Outreach  Word of mouth  Prior experience 
 

Comment:   
 
2. When you first entered the program, was it clean and welcoming? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
3. Was the food of high quality and nutritious? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
4. Did you feel that the program’s environment was a safe one for you to be in? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
5. Do you make friends and experience a sense of community while obtaining the services? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
6. Did you get the kind of service you wanted? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
7. Did you have enough personal space to securely store your belongings? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
8. Was the location of the services convenient? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
9. Were the hours that the services were available good for you? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

9 

10. Were you respectfully oriented to the rules, and were they easily understood? 
 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
11. Did you decide your own plans and goals? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
12. Did you feel comfortable raising any complaints that you might have had about the services? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
13. How would you rate the quality of the staff’s attitudes toward you and others? 

 4   3   2   1  
Excellent  Good  Fair  Poor  

 

Comment:   
 
14. Were the staff supportive of your growth and help you to obtain the information you needed? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

Comment:   
 
15. Were staff sensitive to your cultural background? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 
16. Has the amount of services been satisfactory, and the services meet your needs? 

 4   3   2   1  
Almost all of my needs 
have been met  

Most of my needs have 
been met  

Only a few of my needs 
have been met  

None of my needs have 
been met  

 

Comment:   
 
17. How would you rate the overall quality of service you have received? 

 4   3   2   1  
Excellent  Good  Fair  Poor  

 

Comment:   
 
18. If a friend were in need of similar help, would you recommend the services to them? 

 4  3   2   1  
Yes, definitely Yes, generally No, not really No, definitely not 

 

Comment:   
 



Integrating Feedback from the Homeless into Service Excellence 
 

 

10 

 
Appendix B: Consumer satisfaction scorecard 

 
Item Score* Grade 

Program Environment: 
Clean and Welcoming? 78 C+ 

Food Quality 65 D 

Safety 78 C+ 

Sense of Community 71 C- 

Desired Services 64 D 

Space for Belongings 65 D 

Location Convenience 81 B- 

Service Quality 69 D+ 

Orientation to Program 85 B 

Goal Setting Opportunity 83 B 

Receptivity to Complaints 52 F 

Staff Attitudes 64 D 

Staff Supportiveness 76 C 

Cultural Sensitivity 81 B- 

Services Meet Needs 50 F 

Overall Quality 60 D 

Will Refer Friends 78 C+ 

*Scores show the percentage of “Yes” responses to each question. 
 



Homeless Services Panel of Experts 
ACTION CALENDAR 
November 12, 2019 

To: Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council 

From: Homeless Services Panel of Experts 

Submitted by:  Katharine Gale, Chairperson 

Subject: Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds 

RECOMMENDATION 
Approve recommendations for the allocation of FY19/20 General Funds commensurate 
with estimated resources accrued from the passage of Measure P ballot. 

SUMMARY 
The Homeless Services Panel of Experts recommends that the City allocate general 
funds to a variety of critical activities including shelter, permanent housing, supportive 
services and other types of programs to address the current crisis of homelessness in 
Berkeley. The recommended priority order, percentages, estimated amounts, types of 
activities and subpopulation considerations are included as Attachment 1 to this report. 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 
Recommendations covered by this report allocate general fund resources for homeless 
housing and services in an undetermined amount commensurate with those raised to 
date under the transfer tax authorized under Measure P (minus those previously 
allocated by Council) and estimated to be approximately $4 million. 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 
Homelessness is increasing in the City of Berkeley and throughout the Bay Area. 
Between the years of 2017 and 2019, the Point-In-Time count reveals a 13% increase 
in homelessness, affecting more than 1,100 people on any given night in Berkeley. A 
need is recognized for additional housing and services, and calling for humane 
measures to address the impacts of homelessness. The Voters of Berkeley passed 
Measure P in November 2018, which collects a specified transfer tax on high-value 
real estate transactions. Measure P creates additional annual funds to address 
homelessness in the City of Berkeley. 

The Measure P ballot established a Homeless Services Panel of Experts (HSPE) to 
advise the City Council on the expenditure and distribution of these funds. The Panel 
consists of nine members with a deep level of expertise in areas relevant to 
homelessness, including persons with extensive professional and/or lived experience 
with homelessness. The Panel began meeting in May 2019.  Katharine Gale and 
Yesica Prado are the elected Chair and Vice-Chair of the Panel. 

2180 Milvia Street, Berkeley, CA 94704 ● Tel: (510) 981-7000 ● TDD: (510) 981-6903 ● Fax: (510) 981-7099

E-mail: manager@CityofBerkeley.info Website: http://www.CityofBerkeley.info/Manager

Attachment 6

mailto:manager@CityofBerkeley.info
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/manager


Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds ACTION CALENDAR 
November 12, 2019 

Addressing homelessness is a Strategic Plan Priority Project, advancing the City’s goal 
to create affordable housing and supportive services for our most vulnerable 
community members. 

Process 
This report provides HSPE’s first recommendations for initial investments from the 
General Funds to increase and improve housing and supporting services, addressing 
homelessness in the City of Berkeley. In order to develop these recommendations, the 
Panel first adopted a Purpose Statement (included as Attachment 2). The Panel 
reviewed all of the referrals that were made since the Measure’s passage in light of our 
adopted statement. The Panel reviewed funding requests and referrals included in the 
January Measure P Informational report to Council, as well as additional referrals, 
formal and informal, sent to the Panel since that time. HSPE also considered 
information presented by City staff regarding current City of Berkeley investments, local 
and regional strategies, and the 1,000 Person Plan.   

A Mission and Budget Subcommittee of the Panel met and categorized the referrals 
received as areas of investment (permanent housing, shelter, etc.), and proposed initial 
percentages to each area, as well as a process to determine the final 
recommendations. The full Panel reviewed the investment areas, added additional 
activities/program types to the areas, prioritized the program types within each area, 
and made recommended adjustments to the percentages, resulting in the 
recommended allocations attached to this report.  

The subcommittee and Panel also adopted subpopulation priorities within the key 

investment areas of permanent housing subsidies, and short-term, flexible subsidies. 
These include establishing a priority for permanent supportive housing subsidies for any 
and all unsheltered families with children in Berkeley that meet the eligibility for 
permanent supportive housing, and a priority for flexible housing subsidies for homeless 
families with children in the Berkeley Unified School District. This also includes a 
recommended 10% set-aside for transition-age youth in both short-term and permanent 
subsidies. 

As stated above, the actual amount of funding to be allocated has yet to be determined. 
The HSPE makes a budget recommendation listing the priority of services, percentages 
and an estimated amount of funding, which is based on an estimated allocation of close 
to $4 million [included as Attachment 1]. The HSPE's priorities within each area are 
expressed in the order of activities.  The Panel recommends higher ranked activities 
are given a greater priority for resources, but recognizes some activities the Panel has 

Page 2 



Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds ACTION CALENDAR 
November 12, 2019 

recommended may be funded using other resources at the City’s disposal.  Activities 
left out of our table, such as Public Works street cleaning and street outreach, the 
Panel did not recommended these services for funding under Measure P funds at this 
time. 

The HSPE notes, the amount of funds available for the Panel to allocate was reduced 
nearly $1.5 million pursuant to appropriations in Council’s FY19/20 Biennial Budget 
adoption for City staff and for Mental Health Emergency Transport. The Panel 
understands that FY19/20 funding is already committed, but wishes to express our 
strong objection on the pre-allocation of $2.4 million in FY20/21 Measure P-generated 
funding to fully cover these transportation costs. 

Measure P was passed by the Voters of Berkeley to address the crisis of 
homelessness, and while some individuals experiencing homelessness may require 
Emergency Mental Health Transportation, the service is not only limited to people 
currently homeless. The Emergency Mental Health Transportation costs were not 
budgeted with the consideration that most individuals transported for Emergency Mental 
Health Care will actually be housed individuals. 

In addition, the Emergency Mental Health Transportation does not result in the creation 
of more housing or shelter for people experiencing homelessness in the City of 
Berkeley. The HSPE strongly believes expenditure of these funds are not consistent 
with the spirit of the Measure P ballot. We recommend the Council requests information 
regarding the percentage of transported patients, experiencing homelessness.  We 
hope to make recommendations for next year’s investments with more consideration 
using this information. 

Next Steps 
The HSPE recognizes the body was established not only to make recommendations 
about investment amounts, but also to advise on methods and practices. A companion 
letter will be sent to Council to accompany this report with additional recommendations 
and considerations, ensuring Berkeley’s homeless services are consistent with best 
practices. 

Future work of the Panel will include developing an Action Plan for the coming year and 
coordinating with the Measure O Panel to plan for future developments. Future work 
may include recommendations regarding establishing a goal of ending family 
homelessness or other City-wide goals. 

Page 3 

Page 3 



Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds ACTION CALENDAR 
November 12, 2019 

BACKGROUND

In 2018, Berkeley Voters passed ballot Measure P. The Homeless Services Panel of 
Experts began meeting in May of 2019. To guide our work, in August 2019, the Panel 
adopted a Statement of Purpose. This Statement is provided [as Attachment 2] on this 
report and is a guide to the recommendations made on this report. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY 

There are no identifiable environmental costs or opportunities associated with these 
recommendations; the determination regarding how to invest in shelter expansion 
activities may require environmental consideration. 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 
The exact amount of funds that will be generated through Measure P are unknown at 
this time, and additional State and local funds may become available to the City to 
cover similar cost areas to address homelessness as those recommended by the 
Panel. Thus, the Panel recommends key categories for investment, relative priorities 
expressed as percentages, and priorities within each of these areas. City staff and 
Council are encouraged to uses these recommendations to determine the specific 
investments within each area.  

ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED 
None. 

CITY MANAGER 
The City Manager [TYPE ONE] concurs with / takes no position on the content and 
recommendations of the Commission’s Report. [OR] Refer to the budget process. 

Note:  If the City Manager does not (a) concur, (b) takes any other position, or (c) 
refer to the budget process, a council action report must be prepared. Indicate 
under the CITY MANAGER heading, “See companion report.” 

CONTACT PERSON 
Peter Radu, Homeless Services Coordinator and Secretary to the Homeless Services 
Panel of Experts, HHCS, (510)-981-5435. 

Attachments:  
1: Recommendations for First Year Measure P Allocations - By Category and Activity 
2: Homeless Services Panel of Experts Statement of Purpose 

Page 4 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Approved Recommendations for First Year Measure P Allocations Will Be Inserted Here] 



Recommendations for Allocation of FY19/20 Measure P Funds ACTION CALENDAR 
November 12, 2019 

ATTACHMENT 2: 
Homeless Services Panel of Experts Adopted Mission/Purpose Statement 
(adopted in substantially this form August 14, 2019) 

The Voters of Berkeley passed Measure P ballot to generate additional General Funds 
to use and address the crisis of homelessness.  The Homeless Services Panel of 
Experts was created from the Measure to establish and “make recommendations on 
how and to what extent the City should establish and/or fund programs to end or 
prevent homelessness in Berkeley and provide humane services and support.” 

The HSPE understands the current crisis of homelessness requires investments in 
prevention, health services and permanent housing, which we know is the solution to 
homelessness, as well as shelters, supporting services and other temporary measures 
that get people immediately out of the elements. The Panel seeks to strike a balance 
between these needs in our recommendations.  

The HSPE considers the currently unmet needs, gaps and opportunities, but also take 
in consideration best practices and currently available data on outcomes.  The Panel 
will make recommendations for increased local investment, including program types, 
target populations and geographic areas as appropriate. The Panel seeks to consider 
the best use of these investments into our homeless services in the City of Berkeley, 
using the context of other available Federal, State and local funding. In general, the 
Panel will not make recommendations on specific agencies to receive funding, nor run 
our own proposal process, recognizing this as a role for City staff and the Council. The 
Panel will request updates on the performance of Measure P investments and the 
homeless service system overall, including the experience of service uses, and use this 
information to inform future recommendations and provide oversight.   

The HSPE recognizes homelessness is a regional issue and requires a regional 
approach, including recognizing people from Berkeley may live in other places and 
remain connected to Berkeley services. 

The HSPE will ensure Measure P funding recommendations further efforts of creating 
more housing for people experiencing homelessness in the City of Berkeley. The Panel 
will coordinate with the Measure O Panel and ensure very low cost housing is 
connected to services and operating support, so housing programs can more 
successfully provide service to our Berkeley homeless community.

The HSPE will meet as needed to fulfill this Mission, and make budget 
recommendations to the City Council at least annually. 

Page 7 



Office of the Mayor
ACTION CALENDAR

July 16, 2019
(Continued from July 9, 2019)

To: Honorable Members of the City Council
From: Mayor Jesse Arreguín and Councilmembers Sophie Hahn, Kate Harrison 

and Rigel Robinson
Subject: Housing for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley: Proposing a 

Framework for Berkeley’s Affordable Housing 

RECOMMENDATION
Refer to the Housing Advisory Commission, the Measure O Bond Oversight Committee, 
and the Homeless Services Panel of Experts to consider the proposed Housing for a 
Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley framework (the “Framework”) and return 
comments for consideration at a Special Meeting of the City Council in September, to 
inform a final version the City Council will adopt to govern Berkeley’s affordable housing 
policies, programs and projects through 2030.

SUMMARY STATEMENT
With the public’s generous support of 2018 Measures O and P and 2016 Measure U1, 
Berkeley has significant new local funds to support our affordable and homeless 
housing goals. Numerous advisory and decision-making entities, including the Measure 
O Bond Oversight Committee (“Measure O Committee”), Housing Advisory Commission 
(HAC), Planning Commission, Homeless Services Panel of Experts, City Staff - and the 
City Council as the final decision-making body - have a role in recommending, adopting 
or implementing policies, programs and projects using these and the City’s other 
affordable and supportive housing resources. Several other entities may also play a role 
in recommendations or decisions affecting affordable and supportive housing including 
the Zoning Adjustments Board (ZAB) and the Mental Health and Homeless 
Commissions. To support optimal coordination among these many bodies and cohesive 
action to realize Berkeley’s affordable housing goals, it is imperative that the City 
Council provide a high-level roadmap for all to follow.

There is a great deal of public process before us as we move forward to build an 
equitable housing future for Berkeley.  We offer this Framework as a starting point for 
many future decisions, lighting a path for Berkeley to honor and maximize the powerful 

Page 1 of 36

Attachment 7

rthomsen
Typewritten Text
B



opportunity presented by Measures O, P and U1, and the community’s outstanding 
commitment to affordable and homeless housing.

This framework addresses only Berkeley’s affordable and supportive housing strategies. 
Many strategies are already in place to support the creation of new market rate housing, 
and others are under consideration. Because the creation and preservation of 
affordable housing involves significant investments of City of Berkeley resources, a 
high-level, comprehensive framework, adopted by the City Council, is necessary to 
guide decision making by multiple entities over time. 

BACKGROUND
In the past, the City of Berkeley had limited financial resources to fund the development 
and management of affordable and supportive housing. Berkeley created a Housing 
Trust Fund in 19901 which may collect money from a number of sources including fees 
from market-rate rental or ownership developments (pursuant to BMC Chapter 23C.12 - 
Inclusionary Housing Requirements), demolitions, and the sale of City-owned 
properties.2 Funds are often insufficient to support multiple projects simultaneously, or 
to fund single, large projects in their entirety. As of 2015, the HTF received 
approximately $7.6 million from fee programs, which was the only source of funding at 
that time.3 In December of 2018 (prior to the adoption of Measure O), the Housing Trust 
Fund had a balance of only $3.5 million. In addition, that balance and other funds had 
been reserved for The Berkeley Way Project, which required at least $13 million in City 
funds to move forward.4 

Recently, Berkeley voters overwhelmingly endorsed three measures that together 
create an unprecedented opportunity for the City to fulfill the community’s highest 
priorities: addressing the dual crises of housing affordability and homelessness. 

Measure U1 (2016), which passed with 75% percent of the vote, increased the gross 
receipts tax on owners of five or more residential rental units, generating approximately 
$5 million per year to increase affordable housing and protect Berkeley residents from 

1 City of Berkeley Housing and Community Services Department, Housing Trust Fund, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/ContentDisplay.aspx?id=6532
2 City of Berkeley Housing Trust Fund Guidelines, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-
_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf 
3 Memo on Below Market Rate Housing and Housing Trust Fund Program Status, December 2015, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-
01_WS_Item_03_Below_Market_Rate_Housing.aspx 
4 Reserving Up to an Additional $12.5M in Housing Trust Funds for the Berkeley Way Development, 
December 4, 2018, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-
4_Item_03_Reserving_Up_to_an_Additional__12_5M_in_Housing_Trust_Funds.aspx 

Page 2 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/ContentDisplay.aspx?id=6532
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-01_WS_Item_03_Below_Market_Rate_Housing.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-01_WS_Item_03_Below_Market_Rate_Housing.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-4_Item_03_Reserving_Up_to_an_Additional__12_5M_in_Housing_Trust_Funds.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/12_Dec/Documents/2018-12-4_Item_03_Reserving_Up_to_an_Additional__12_5M_in_Housing_Trust_Funds.aspx


homelessness.5  In November of 2018, Measures O and P were overwhelmingly passed 
by Berkeley voters.6, 7  Measure O, supported by 77%, is a $135 million affordable 
housing bond to create and preserve affordable housing.  Measure P, which received 
72% support, increases the real estate transfer tax on the top one-third of real estate 
transactions by 1% to fund rehousing, mental health and other services for the 
homeless, likely yielding $6 to $8 million per year. 

Over ten years, these three measures are projected to generate more than $200 million 
to create and preserve affordable housing, to keep vulnerable residents housed, and to 
rehouse individuals and families experiencing homelessness. Not surprisingly, given the 
high levels of support for these measures, the provision of affordable housing and 
homeless services was ranked as extremely or very important by 84% of respondents to 
a 2018 community survey8. 

The message from Berkeley voters and residents is clear; it is now our responsibility to 
deliver maximum value for those who need help finding or sustaining housing, and for 
the entire community.    

Berkeley is poised to undertake a major expansion of our affordable housing programs, 
using the new monies provided by Measures U1, O and P. Combined with already-
existing affordable housing resources (Housing Trust Funds, inclusionary requirements 
and public land, among others) and supplemented with possible changes to the zoning 
code that could improve the mix and yield of affordable units, the City is well-positioned 
to meaningfully address Berkeley’s highest priorities. 

Diversity is one of Berkeley’s key strengths. With the rapid influx of new workers to the 
Bay Area and additional students to UC Berkeley, our community is challenged to meet 
a variety of housing needs; in particular the needs of low and moderate income 
households and the homeless.  Berkeley is committed to housing for its teachers, artists 
and artisans, seniors and students, young people entering the work-force, and the many 
other working individuals and families who cannot afford market-rate housing.  Berkeley 
is also deeply committed to housing individuals and families experiencing 

5 Full text of Measure U1, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Measure%20U1.pdf 
6 Full Text of Measure O,  https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-
fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing 
7 Full Text of Measure P, 
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JbipUDMW62Kgkl4szDoMEgAmN0lvZCLk/view?usp=sharing 
8 Discussion and Direction Regarding Potential Ballot Measures for the November 6, 2018 General 
Municipal Election, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/03_Mar/Documents/2018-03-
27_Item_23_Discussion_and_Direction_Regarding_-_Supp.aspx 

Page 3 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Measure%20U1.pdf
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1JbipUDMW62Kgkl4szDoMEgAmN0lvZCLk/view?usp=sharing
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/03_Mar/Documents/2018-03-27_Item_23_Discussion_and_Direction_Regarding_-_Supp.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2018/03_Mar/Documents/2018-03-27_Item_23_Discussion_and_Direction_Regarding_-_Supp.aspx


homelessness, and ensuring that people with disabilities have accessible, supportive 
and affordable options.  

Berkeley’s new affordable housing monies enable us to expand successful housing 
strategies the City is already pursuing and to significantly expand important strategies 
that were more difficult to achieve in the absence of meaningful local funds. The plan 
proposes expanding Berkeley’s major existing affordable housing programs and putting 
substantial resources into directions that reflect core Berkeley values such as 
cooperative ownership, democratic control and the empowerment of underserved 
communities. It also proposes a suite of policies that should be broadly applied to all 
existing, expanded and new affordable housing initiatives.   

This Framework is meant to serve as the “mission and goals” that will guide the next 
decade of action on affordable housing in Berkeley. Specific strategies, programs and 
projects will be developed in much more detail by the Measure O Committee (and, with 
respect to U1 funds, the HAC and to Measure P funds, the Homeless Services Panel of 
Experts); with input from other committees and commissions and from trusted 
community partners and the public; with the expertise and support of City Staff; and with 
refinement and approval by the Berkeley City Council.

REVIEW OF EXISTING PLANS, PROGRAMS, POLICIES & LAWS
The City of Berkeley has numerous programs, policies and laws in place that directly or 
indirectly support the creation and preservation of affordable and supportive housing.  
Many of these are discussed in the proposed Framework, including rent control and 
eviction protections9, affordable housing fees and inclusionary requirements for for-profit 
developments10, a Small Sites Program, and the Tenant Opportunity to Purchase Act11. 

Housing affordability is the first objective of the Housing Element of the City of Berkeley 
General Plan. Policy H-1 - Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate Income 
Housing sets the goal of increasing housing affordable to residents with lower income, 
and outlines a number of actions to achieve this goal, including encouraging incentives 
for affordable housing development, utilizing the Housing Trust Fund to provide 
housing, and maintaining zoning requirements for the inclusion of affordable units in 

9 Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Home/Ordinance__Rent_Stabilization_and_Evic
tion_for_Good_Cause.aspx 
10 BMC Chapter 23C.12, Inclusionary Housing Requirements, 
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C1
2/Berkeley23C12.html 
11 Small Sites Acquisition Program and Tenant Opportunity to Purchase, Feb 14, 2017, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-
14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx 

Page 4 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Home/Ordinance__Rent_Stabilization_and_Eviction_for_Good_Cause.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Home/Ordinance__Rent_Stabilization_and_Eviction_for_Good_Cause.aspx
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C12/Berkeley23C12.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C12/Berkeley23C12.html
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx


new housing developments12. Housing affordability is also the subject of Land Use 
Policies LU-18 (Downtown Affordable Housing Incentives) and LU-25 (Affordable 
Housing Development) of the Land Use Element of the General Plan13 and of the City’s 
affordable housing requirements in market rate buildings.14  Many of Berkeley’s area-
specific plans, such as the Downtown Area Plan, Adeline Corridor Specific Plan, and 
West Berkeley Plan, also highlight the importance of affordable housing to specific 
areas and neighborhoods.15, 16, 17  

2018’s Measure O is the most recent affirmation of the community’s desire to create 
and preserve housing affordable to serve populations not able to afford market rates. It 
sets a goal of achieving 10% reserved affordable housing by 2030.18 The Framework 
seeks to coordinate existing and new efforts toward achieving this goal.

ACTIONS/ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED
While the City has made numerous commitments to affordable housing in the past and 
taken a variety of actions to encourage its development and preservation, many of 
these were made before Measure U1, O, and P’s resources were contemplated or 
available. The need to allocate resources in a coordinated, efficient and rational manner 
is more urgent than ever as we set out to spend the significant new funds voters have 
generously provided.  

Creating a clear roadmap for the many entities that will consider and decide on the use 
of both new and existing resources is the best way to ensure optimal allocations and 
maximum achievement of the community’s goals. Looking at individual projects or 
programs absent a guiding plan and principals will not produce the optimization or 

12 Housing Element, Policy H-1 Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate Income Housing 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-
_Housing_Element.aspx
13 Land Use Element, City of Berkeley General Plan, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-
_Land_Use_Element_Introduction.aspx 
14 BMC 23C.12 Inclusionary Housing Requirements, 
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C1
2/Berkeley23C12.html 
15 Berkeley Downtown Area Plan, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_DAP/FINAL_x-
DAP%20document_120329.pdf
16 Adeline Specific Area Plan 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-
_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20SP%20Public_4.%20Housing_5.15.19.pdf
17 West Berkeley Plan, Housing and Social Services, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/West_Berkeley_-
_Housing___Social_Services.aspx 
18 Full Text of Measure O,  https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-
fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing

Page 5 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Housing_Element.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Housing_Element.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Land_Use_Element_Introduction.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Land_Use_Element_Introduction.aspx
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C12/Berkeley23C12.html
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Berkeley/cgi/NewSmartCompile.pl?path=Berkeley23C/Berkeley23C12/Berkeley23C12.html
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_DAP/FINAL_x-DAP%20document_120329.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_DAP/FINAL_x-DAP%20document_120329.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20SP%20Public_4.%20Housing_5.15.19.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Planning_and_Development/Level_3_-_Land_Use_Division/Adeline%20SP%20Public_4.%20Housing_5.15.19.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/West_Berkeley_-_Housing___Social_Services.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/West_Berkeley_-_Housing___Social_Services.aspx
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qdA7jW6J5lHgFSlIcwHcb20x-fcfW3Xv/view?usp=sharing


coordination that is required to fulfill our mandates. Similarly, adopting a Framework 
without collecting input from the community and appropriate Commissions and 
Committees would not be appropriate.  We see no alternatives that would ensure the 
work of many entities involved in forwarding affordable housing in Berkeley is 
harnessed towards commonly established, clearly stated and rationalized goals.  

CONSULTATION/OUTREACH OVERVIEW & RESULTS
The intent of this referral is to launch a broad process of consultation to gather input 
from the Housing Advisory Commission, the Measure O Bond Oversight Committee, 
and the Homeless Services Panel of Experts and from community partners and the 
public. Because the Framework must be in place before other entities embark to fulfill 
their respective charges, consultation must be completed and the Framework adopted 
quickly. 

This referral specifically requests feedback on broad concepts, directions and goals, not 
on implementation strategies, programs or projects.  While Commissions, Committees, 
community partners and the public will no doubt be tempted to address these additional 
important elements at this time, specific strategies, programs and projects will not be 
addressed in the Framework itself. These will be developed and vetted over time by the 
Measure O Committee, the HAC and other appropriate entities, and will involve 
additional consultation with community partners and the public. 

The attached draft Framework reflects consultation with the City Manager’s Office and 
the Health, Housing, and Community Services Department, and with the item’s four co-
sponsors. The Framework was conceived and written with the support of Stephen 
Barton, PhD., former Executive Director of the City of Berkeley’s Rent Board and former 
City of Berkeley Housing Director. The Framework, offered as a draft, now awaits input 
from the Housing Advisory Commission, the Measure O Bond Oversight Committee, 
and the Homeless Services Panel of Experts, community partners and, most 
importantly, the public.

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
Traditionally, affordable housing has been the purview of the City Council, the Housing 
Advisory Commission and City Staff. Measure U1 further deputizes the HAC to make 
recommendations on the use of U1 funds and recommendations on expanding 
affordable housing in the City, and both Measures O and P established boards to 
provide recommendations on the use of their respective funds. Finally, the Planning 
Commission, the Land Use, Housing, and Economic Development Committee, the 
Zoning Adjustments Board and other City entities play important roles in supporting and 
producing affordable housing. It is important that all of these entities share a single 

Page 6 of 36



vision and, even when acting independently, are moving towards clearly articulated, 
Council-approved goals. A single cohesive Framework will help ensure that different 
funds, regulatory strategies and other resources available to be harnessed to the cause 
of affordable and supportive housing are each deployed for their optimal purpose within 
the broader ecosystem.

IMPLEMENTATION, ADMINISTRATION & ENFORCEMENT
The Housing Advisory Commission, the Measure O Bond Oversight Committee, and the 
Homeless Services Panel of Experts are the most appropriate drivers of the public 
process. Each shall hold at least one publicly noticed meeting to take comments and 
review and discuss the proposed Framework. The Chair of each body shall prepare a 
set of comments, approved by the Commission and Committees, to present at the 
Special Meeting of the City Council in September. Given the urgency of this referral, 
lengthy reports are neither required nor feasible. Each body can choose its own 
preferred format for comments, and the Chair (or other chosen representative) will be 
provided10 minutes at the September Special Meeting to present comments. 

FISCAL IMPACTS
Costs for review of the proposed Framework by Commissions, Committees, and by the 
City Council at a Special Meeting are minimal and consist of staff time to notice and 
staff meetings, many of which are already regularly scheduled. 

Ultimately, adoption of the Framework will provide the cohesion necessary to rationalize 
the use of the City’s many affordable housing resources and allow the City to 
responsibly and efficiently allocate resources to best achieve community goals. 

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Carrying out the community process as proposed has no environmental impacts. 

Creating and preserving affordable and homeless housing in Berkeley, a transit rich 
community, will allow lower income individuals and families to live closer to transit and 
to their workplaces, reducing greenhouse gas emissions by shortening commutes and 
decreasing reliance on personal vehicles. Building to high green standards, as required 
by the Framework, will ensure new and refurbished housing incorporates energy 
efficiency, electrification, water conservation and use of non-toxic materials, as well as 
other green building measures.  

Preserving and refurbishing existing housing stock is an important environmental 
strategy, as reuse/repair/refurbishment of materials already in use maximizes the value 
of a building’s embodied energy, and avoids expending additional embodied energy on 

Page 7 of 36



a new building, that can take decades or even a century to recapture. 

Finally, increasing affordable housing in Berkeley will make the City more economically 
and racially equitable, which is a key factor of the City’s sustainability and resilience 
goals, as outlined in Berkeley’s Resilience Strategy.

OUTCOMES & EVALUATION
If robust input is received from diverse stakeholders and the Framework is adopted, the 
goals of this item will have been fully realized. The Framework will support achievement 
of Measure O’s stated goal that 10% of Berkeley housing units be reserved affordable 
by the year 2030.

CONTACT
Mayor Jesse Arreguín, (510) 981-7100
Councilmember Sophie Hahn, District 5, (510) 981-7150

Attachments:
1. Housing for a Diverse and Creative Berkeley: A Framework for Affordable

Housing

Page 8 of 36



         Page 1 

 

Housing for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley 
A Framework for Affordable Housing 

 

Councilmember Sophie Hahn and Mayor Jesse Arreguín 

Written in collaboration with Stephen Barton, Ph.D.  
 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Berkeley is poised to undertake a major expansion of our housing affordability programs, 

using new monies provided by Measures U1, O and P.  Combined with already-existing 

affordable housing resources and supplemented with possible changes to the zoning code 

that could improve the mix and yield of affordable units, the City is well-positioned to 

meaningfully address Berkeley citizens’ highest priorities: to increase affordable housing 

and rehouse the homeless.  

 

Diversity is one of Berkeley’s key strengths. With the rapid influx of new workers to the 

Bay Area and additional students to UC Berkeley, our community is challenged to meet a 

variety of housing needs; in particular the needs of low and moderate income households 

and the homeless.  Berkeley is committed to housing for its teachers, artists and artisans; 

seniors and students; young people entering the work-force; and the many other working 

families and individuals who cannot afford market-rates.  Berkeley is also deeply 

committed to housing the homeless, and ensuring that people with disabilities have 

accessible, supportive and affordable homes.   

 

Berkeley’s new housing monies enable us to expand successful affordable housing 

strategies we are already pursuing and to expand important strategies that were more 

difficult to achieve in the absence of significant local funds.  We propose expanding 

Berkeley’s major existing affordable housing programs and putting substantial resources 

into directions that reflect core Berkeley values such as cooperative ownership, democratic 

control and the empowerment of underserved communities. We also propose a suite of 

policies that should be broadly applied to all existing, expanded and new affordable 

housing initiatives.    

 

Major Existing Programs - Recommend to Expand: 
Currently, the City of Berkeley works to maintain housing affordability through four 

primary strategies, each of which is backed by effective organizations within the City of 

Berkeley and by local non-profit affordable housing organizations. These four strategies 

should be strengthened and expanded:  

Page 9 of 36



         Page 2 

 

1. Constructing New Non-Profit Affordable Units 

2. Rent and Eviction Protections  

3. Affordable Housing Fees and Inclusionary Requirements for For-Profit 

Developments  

4. Direct Subsidies to Renters  

 

Additional Important Programs - Recommend to Significantly Expand: 
There are several additional strategies that the City should expand substantially as they 

offer excellent opportunities to create and preserve affordable rental and ownership 

housing aligned with Berkeley values.  Some of these strategies require capacity-building 

within City Departments and in non-profit partners.  These programs should be 

significantly strengthened and expanded:  

1. House and Support the Homeless 

2. Transition some of Berkeley’s existing rental housing to permanently affordable 

social ownership by expanding the Small Sites Program, accompanied by a Tenant 

or Community Opportunity to Purchase Act.   

3. Provide innovative homeownership opportunities for moderate and low income 

residents, including cooperative ownership using the Community Land Trust model. 

4. Significantly increase the supply of affordable live-work housing for artists and 

artisans. 

5. Encourage adding incremental units, such as accessory dwelling units (ADUs) or 

low-rise multiplex units that complement neighborhood character.  

6. Partner with UC Berkeley to support creation of housing appropriate and affordable 

to students, faculty and staff.  

 

Policies to Ensure Equity and Sustainability: 
While pursuing these strategies, there are several principles of equity and sustainability the 

City should apply to all of its affordable housing programs: 

1. Ensure equitable access to scarce affordable housing, including accessible units with 

universal design features. 

2. Codify Deep Green Building standards for healthy and sustainable buildings, and 

other measures to increase environmental sustainability. 

3. Prioritize the use of public land for the creation of affordable housing. 

4. Ensure those who build and rehabilitate our housing are paid fair wages and have 

access to health insurance, and support local apprenticeship programs.  

5. Make changes to the City of Berkeley Zoning Code and project approvals processes 

to incentivize, facilitate and reward the production of affordable housing.  

 

Page 10 of 36



Page 3 

Following these programs and principles, Berkeley will be able to preserve and expand its 

diverse and creative character, support equity and opportunity, and offer meaningful, 

stable housing solutions to families and individuals not able to afford market rates.   

This Framework addresses only Berkeley’s affordable housing goals. Many strategies are 

already in place to support the creation of new market rate housing, and others are under 

consideration. Because the creation and preservation of affordable housing involves 

significant investments of City and other resources, a comprehensive roadmap, adopted by 

the City Council, is necessary to guide decision making by multiple entities over time.

I. INTRODUCTION

Many things make Berkeley a special and attractive place; nationally and internationally 

renowned for activism, intellect, innovation and the arts.  We are lucky to be situated on 

the desirable West Coast of the United States and the Pacific Rim, bordering San Francisco 

Bay and adjacent to the largest Regional Parks network in America.  But the core of what 

makes us a unique, important and engaging City is the people of Berkeley, and our shared 

values of equity, opportunity and justice.  Our robust mix of backgrounds includes people of 

diverse ethnicities, religions, ages, gender identities, occupations and abilities. Without this 

mix, we lose the fundamental elements of our greatness and risk all that makes Berkeley 

one of the most uniquely desirable and impactful small cities in America.   

Preserving and enhancing our diversity - and our humanity - in the face of unprecedented 

pressure on housing affordability is one of the greatest challenges we face.  Rent control 

has long been a key strategy for Berkeley to provide stability and affordability to residents; 

our ability to keep it strong has been severely eroded by the State.  Twenty years ago, 

working families could still afford to buy homes in Berkeley; with median home prices now 

topping $1.3 million, that is no longer the case.1  And with a dramatic rise in rents and 

evictions throughout the region and the State, the humanitarian disaster of  homelessness 

accelerates.2, 3, 4

1 Oakland, Berkeley, Piedmont Real Estate, June 2019, 
https://www.bayareamarketreports.com/trend/oakland-berkeley-real-estate-market-conditions-prices
2 New report underscores link between ‘shocking’ number of evictions, homelessness, Curbed LA, June 
10, 2019, https://la.curbed.com/2019/6/10/18659841/evictions-homelessness-rent-burden-los-angeles
3 Implementation of Resolution 68,312 (Council Funding for Additional Services Amending Contracts with 
Eviction Defense Center (“EDC”) and East Bay Community Law Center (“EBCLC”)) For the Period Ending 
June 30, 2018, April 2, 2019,
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-
02_Item_13__Implementation_of_Resolution.aspx
4 “Rising rents, home prices in Berkeley and the Bay Area displacing thousands”, June 28, 2018, 
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2018/06/28/rising-rents-home-prices-in-berkeley-and-the-bay-area-
displacing-thousands

Page 11 of 36

https://www.bayareamarketreports.com/trend/oakland-berkeley-real-estate-market-conditions-prices
https://la.curbed.com/2019/6/10/18659841/evictions-homelessness-rent-burden-los-angeles
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-02_Item_13__Implementation_of_Resolution.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/04_Apr/Documents/2019-04-02_Item_13__Implementation_of_Resolution.aspx
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2018/06/28/rising-rents-home-prices-in-berkeley-and-the-bay-area-displacing-thousands
https://www.berkeleyside.com/2018/06/28/rising-rents-home-prices-in-berkeley-and-the-bay-area-displacing-thousands


         Page 4 

 

 

Rising market rates for both rental and ownership housing in Berkeley is driven primarily 

by the huge increase in high paid workers flooding the Bay Area, and by UC Berkeley’s 

addition of 35% more students over the last 20 years, bringing enrollment to over 

41,000.56  New Tech and other “white collar” workers pay well over $1 million for the 

bungalows, duplexes and tract homes that used to house the Bay Area’s middle income and 

poor residents, and are able to afford rents of $3500 or more for a two bedroom 

apartment.7  Students in Berkeley are packed 2, 3 and 4 to a bedroom, some paying $1,500 

per month - per person - for a bunk.  Everyone else is left behind.   

 

Who is “everyone else?” Everyone else includes the teachers who teach our children; the 

nurses and home-care workers who support us when we are sick; the activists and not-for-

profit workers who forgo high salaries to promote and serve the public interest; the artists 

and artisans who delight, entertain, feed and provoke us;  the firefighters who come to our 

rescue and police who work to keep us safe; seniors who have contributed for decades and 

are now on fixed incomes and students who struggle to pay tuition and rent; young people 

entering the workforce and starting families, who are building our future; the waiters, 

baristas and retail workers who serve us; public sector workers who make sure our cities 

and counties can deliver, and who make our public institutions work; and many more.  

Everyone else also includes the disabled, whose ability to generate income may be limited; 

those suffering from mental illness or substance abuse, which afflict people from all walks 

of life; and our lowest income community members, especially those who have been 

subject for generations to discrimination and physical, psychic and economic violence.  

These are the people Berkeley’s affordable and supportive housing programs are designed to 

help.  We want them in our community.   

 

The voters of Berkeley recently established three important new sources of funding to 

support the creation and preservation of affordable housing, to keep vulnerable people 

housed, and to rehouse the homeless: Measure U1 (2016), Measure O (2018) and Measure 

P (2018). Thanks to the generosity and care of Berkeley citizens, Berkeley for the first time 

has substantial local funds to support these important community goals.  In addition, the 

City collects  funds and obtains affordable units from for-profit developments as mitigation 

for affordable housing impacts.  Finally, the City of Berkeley is completing an inventory of 

land it owns that might be allocated to affordable housing development.   

                                                 
5 Student Enrollments, UC Berkeley Office of the Vice Chancellor of Finance, 
https://pages.github.berkeley.edu/OPA/our-berkeley/student-enrollments.html 
6 Common Data Set 1999-00, UC Berkeley Office of Planning and Analysis, 
https://opa.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/1999-2000.pdf 
7 Berkeley Average Rent Trend Data, April 2019, https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-berkeley-
rent-trends/ 

Page 12 of 36

http://www.marineconomicconsulting.com/EmplReports/Regions/Bay_Area.pdf
https://www.casacedar.com/rooms
https://www.casacedar.com/rates
https://www.casacedar.com/rates
https://www.casacedar.com/rates
https://pages.github.berkeley.edu/OPA/our-berkeley/student-enrollments.html
https://opa.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/1999-2000.pdf
https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-berkeley-rent-trends/
https://www.rentjungle.com/average-rent-in-berkeley-rent-trends/


Page 5 

These Berkeley affordable housing resources can bring in matching Federal, State and/or 

County funds of as much as $5 for every Berkeley dollar, significantly leveraging our 

investments.  All of these resources together, allocated strategically, could yield well over 

1,000 additional units of affordable housing.  As stated in Measure O, the Berkeley City 

Council - and the voters - have adopted a goal of making 10% of Berkeley’s housing 

reserved affordable by 2030. This means that ten years from now we intend to have 5,000 

units available at below-market rates and set aside for people with diverse incomes, from 

extremely low- to middle-income, groups that are struggling to afford the cost of housing in 

our city.   

We believe that Berkeley should aspire to make at least 30% of its housing, around 15,000 

units, permanently affordable, and eventually strive to achieve 50% protected or reserved 

affordable housing, to match the “social housing” mix of progressive European cities such as 

Amsterdam and  Vienna. 

Berkeley’s Measure O provides for sale of $135 million in bonds to fund capital 

expenditures for a variety of types of affordable housing. Measure P increased the real 

estate transfer tax on the most expensive one-third of real estate sales to rehouse the 

homeless and fund the services they need to remain housed. It is expected to bring in $6 - 

$8 million annually, depending on property sales.  Measure U1 increased the gross receipts 

tax on most residential rental properties to fund affordable housing and protect Berkeley 

residents from homelessness. In 2018 it realized $5.1 million and will continue to increase 

as rents increase. Taken together, over the next ten years the City of Berkeley will likely 

have almost $250 million in new revenue available for affordable housing and 

homelessness reduction.  (For more detail on Berkeley’s Affordable Housing resources see 

Appendix A - Funding Sources) 

To allocate these and other affordable housing monies (such as developer impact fees) and 

allocate resources such as public land and inclusionary units, the City Council is advised by 

no fewer than three different advisory boards, as required under each measure, and 

receives input from the Planning Commission and numerous additional entities. This 

report is intended to help provide these advisory bodies, and the City Council, which has 

the ultimate responsibility to allocate all of these funds and resources, with a coherent 

framework.  The goal is for our housing programs and expenditures to have a unifying 

sense of direction: to deploy the optimal mix of City resources for each purpose, to 

maximize the leveraging of local funds, and to meet the expressed needs and desires of the 

community.   

Page 13 of 36

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Susan_Fainstein/publication/232936647_The_Egalitarian_city_The_restructuring_of_Amsterdam/links/542037b60cf241a65a1b1e1d/The-Egalitarian-city-The-restructuring-of-Amsterdam.pdf
https://www.pri.org/stories/2015-10-26/why-rich-people-austria-want-live-housing-projects
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Ballot%20Measures.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Ballot%20Measures.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Elections/Ballot%20Measures%20-%20November%202016.pdf


Page 6 

Measure O funds are limited to traditional types of capital expenditures: buildings, grounds 

and other “hardscape” elements of projects.  Measure P funds are available for 

programmatic as well as capital needs, including mental health and other supportive social 

services, and rent subsidies or operating cost subsidies necessary to rehouse the homeless 

and to support people who are at immediate risk of homelessness. U1 funding can be used 

for anything that is necessary for the creation of permanently affordable housing, and as 

such is the most flexible source of regular affordable housing funds.  Because of this 

flexibility, at least some (and possibly all) U1 funds should likely be reserved for use where 

other more restricted funds are not available.  

Affordable Housing fees paid by developers of market rate projects are deposited into 

Berkeley’s Affordable Housing Trust Fund (HTF), and can only be used for those fund 

purposes.  In general, these include pre-development expenses and long-term loans to 

cover the capital costs of building or rehabilitating permanently affordable housing. 

Developers are allowed the alternative of providing “inclusionary housing” (where a 

market rate project includes affordable units within the development itself) and policy 

makers must consider what the best role for those units might be, as one component of a 

much larger set of affordable housing resources.  With significant local, County, State and 

Federal funds now available to support Berkeley’s deeply subsidized units for very low and 

extremely low income people, inclusionary housing requirements for market rate 

developments could be redirected towards production of  housing for low and moderate 

income families - at higher inclusionary percentages than are currently in place for more 

deeply affordable units.   

This proposed framework is not intended as a comprehensive statement of all the City’s 

housing goals, which are provided in the General Plan Housing Element. Our focus is on the 

creation and retention of affordable housing in concert with Berkeley’s goals and values, 

taking maximum advantage of the opportunities created by the passage of Measures U1, O 

and P, combined with the City’s pre-existing affordable housing resources: affordable 

housing mitigation fees, inclusionary housing and public land.   

In addition to these Berkeley resources, there are a great number of Federal, State and 

County programs, some of which require local matching funds and others of which do not. 

The City also has the potential to revise its land use regulations to create housing 

opportunities; these require more systematic analysis.   

When State and Federal funds are used, Berkeley is limited to supporting housing and 

services that meet their program criteria.  Monies provided by Berkeley’s own generous 

voters are more flexible than State and Federal funds and can be strategically deployed to 

accomplish a broader spectrum of City priorities. Our job is to optimize each funding 

Page 14 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/ContentDisplay.aspx?id=6532
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Planning_and_Development/Home/General_Plan_-_Housing_Element.aspx


Page 7 

source and adjust our land use policies to support the community’s expressed goals, 

ensuring that Berkeley moves decisively to implement programs and policies that advance 

us towards 10% reserved affordable housing by 2030, and embody our values of equity, 

opportunity, health and environmental sustainability.     

This report provides an overview of an approach to affordable housing that we believe 

reflects Berkeley’s values and diversity. It looks at the loss of affordability that Berkeley has 

undergone over the past 20 years and the sources of that loss. It lists and briefly explains 

the broad range of housing policies and programs that Berkeley might pursue. It lists the 

resources Berkeley has available to meet the current crisis and the limitations placed on 

the use of each resource. It then matches policies and resources, explaining how each can 

best be used. 

II. HOUSING AND BERKELEY VALUES

Berkeley values diversity. Interaction among diverse people fosters important community 

values, including equity, opportunity, learning, creativity, neighborliness, and democracy. 

Berkeley was once affordable to everyone, from the high-income residents of large single-

family homes to the extremely low-income residents of single-room occupancy residential 

hotels, and to everyone in between. Berkeley was a national leader in inclusion, redrawing 

school attendance lines to integrate its schools, eliminating barriers for those with mobility 

and other physical limitations, preserving the affordability of rental housing by limiting 

rent while allowing landlords to receive a fair return on their investment, and protecting 

lower and middle income neighborhoods from the displacement of so-called Urban 

Renewal.  

Now rising rents and home prices threaten to turn Berkeley into an enclave of mostly the 

well-to-do and university students, with a small number of low-income residents in 

subsidized units. Rent control enables tenants to remain in place as long as they can afford 

modest annual rent increases, but State law mandates that landlords can increase rents - 

even on rent controlled units - to current market rates when units turn over. Even in 

“inclusionary” apartments, rents have increased faster than the rate of inflation because the 

rent-setting formula for these units is based on the “area median income,” (AMI) which 

increases as more high-income people move into Alameda County and low-income people 

are forced out.  

We must do what we can to preserve the diversity of our City.  A community that excludes 

most low and moderate income people is no longer a source of opportunity.  A community 

no longer affordable to those who work for the common good rather than for profit-

Page 15 of 36



         Page 8 

 

maximizing companies will no longer be equitable. A community in which only a few of the 

most successful writers, researchers, artists and artisans are able to live will no longer be a 

creative, learning community.  

 

Preservation of a diverse, equitable and creative Berkeley requires many different types of 

housing compatible with different neighborhoods to meet the housing needs of people with 

a range of incomes, family sizes, abilities and ways of life. It requires that we mobilize and 

carefully coordinate the use of our affordable housing resources to get the maximum 

benefit from each source, so that we continue to have housing affordable to our diverse 

residents.     

 

Berkeley must create and preserve affordable housing at all scales - from accessory 

dwelling units to small scale multi-family,live-work and large apartment buildings. We also 

need to create units of various sizes, including units large enough for families to live long 

term, and for children to grow up in.  

 

We need to make more of our housing work for people with varied mobilities and for the 

elderly, and to make more of our housing environmentally efficient. We are studying the 

concept of expanding housing beyond the Downtown and transit corridors by adding more 

duplex, triplex and quadruplex units within existing low density neighborhoods.  

 

We must ensure that an important share of our City’s housing is subject to social ownership 

that will keep it affordable;  held by non-profit housing corporations, community land 

trusts and limited and non-equity cooperatives, and subject to deed restrictions. And we 

must establish community priorities for access to this scarce resource so that the 

affordable housing we create and preserve helps keep low and moderate income residents 

from being displaced, enables children to remain in school and low-wage workers to live 

near their jobs, and maintains our historic diversity. 

  

III.  THE AFFORDABILITY CRISIS 
 

Across the Bay Area, almost 1 million jobs have been created since 1990..8 From 2009 to 

April 2019, the overall Bay Area job market increased by about 30%, while the tech 

industry increased by 56%.9 In Berkeley,  there are more students and staff at the 

University of California, more private sector jobs within easy commute, and more people 

who appreciate the walkable, transit-oriented lifestyle provided by Berkeley’s compact 

                                                 
8 Plan Bay Area 2040: Final Plan, http://2040.planbayarea.org/the-bay-area-today  
9 “Tech employment in Bay Area reaches record highs.”, https://www.mercurynews.com/2019/06/14/tech-
employment-bay-area-reaches-record-highs-google-apple-facebook-adobe/ 

Page 16 of 36

http://2040.planbayarea.org/the-bay-area-today
https://www.mercurynews.com/2019/06/14/tech-employment-bay-area-reaches-record-highs-google-apple-facebook-adobe/
https://www.mercurynews.com/2019/06/14/tech-employment-bay-area-reaches-record-highs-google-apple-facebook-adobe/


Page 9 

development and the wide range of cultural and social amenities. The diverse, open and 

forward thinking people of Berkeley and the Bay Area have made Berkeley a place where 

more people want to live, many of them with higher incomes than those already here.   

This reality tracked by looking at average rents in Berkeley over time. At the end of 1998, 

just before State-mandated vacancy decontrol took effect, the average rent in the 20,000 

apartments built before 1980 was $720 a month. Twenty years later, at the end of 2018, it 

was $1,956. If rents had increased only by the rate of inflation, they would instead average 

$1,150 a month.10 As older units are vacated, average market rents rise ever higher,  

reaching $2,200 for a one-bedroom and $3,000 a month for older two-bedroom apartments 

in 2018, with increases of around 50 percent in just the last five years.  Owners of older 

housing stock in Berkeley are able to increase their profits as they ride the exploding 

demand from high-paid professionals and the increases in UC Berkeley’s student 

population - squeezing lower-income tenants who must pay most of their incomes to find 

housing near jobs or family, or end up homeless.  Similarly, In 2000 the median home price 

was $380,000.  By 2013 it was $704,000 and by 2019 it had reached $1,300,000. 

Housing is expensive to build, requires land to build on and lasts a long time if properly 

maintained. This has important implications for affordability. With few vacant sites 

available in Berkeley, the supply of housing can only increase by increasing the density of 

development, as is currently underway Downtown and along major transit corridors, and is 

being contemplated in other areas. However, only a minority of tenants can afford to pay 

enough rent to repay the cost of new construction, typically $3,000 - $4,000 monthly for a 

one bedroom apartment.11  Theoretically, this new market-rate housing is helpful in 

diverting some of the increased demand from high-income tenants into new construction 

and away from older, more affordable buildings, thus reducing displacement; but it does 

not help meet the significantly increased demand from middle and lower-income tenants. 

Most Berkeley tenants live in older housing, where the cost of construction was paid off 

long ago and the building can be operated and maintained for a lower rent. But the supply 

of older housing is fixed and, with rising demand, this is the housing sector that is 

undergoing huge rent increases and rapid gentrification.  

Proponents of market solutions claim affordability is simply a matter of supply and 

demand, and the problem can be solved by building new housing.  But while increased 

rents at the high end of the market encourage production of new housing that high-wage 

10 Inflation as measured by the San Francisco-Oakland area Consumer Price Index for All Items except 
Shelter, “shelter” meaning rent and owners equivalent rent.
11 New Apartments for Rent in Berkeley, CA. Apartments.com, https://www.apartments.com/berkeley-
ca/new/

Page 17 of 36

https://www.apartments.com/berkeley-ca/new/
https://www.apartments.com/berkeley-ca/new/


         Page 10 

 

workers can afford,  rent increases in older housing simply generate windfall profits for 

their owners and fuel displacement of middle and lower income tenants.  State-mandated 

“vacancy decontrol” allows landlords to raise rents to market levels each time a unit turns 

over, even in cities like Berkeley with traditionally strong rent controls.  Ultimately, owners 

of older housing with significantly lower costs are under no obligation to keep their rents 

low as well, and in the immediate, higher demand for older housing can never produce 

more of it.    

 

It typically takes ten to fifteen years before rents in newly constructed buildings have the 

potential to level off as buildings age and the initial costs of construction are paid off. This 

is what is often called the process of “filtering down.”  But this process is self-limiting.  Once 

enough new housing is built to meet demand from higher-income tenants and high-end 

rent rates peak, or slightly decline, market-rate construction slows or stops, despite 

continued high demand among middle and lower income tenants who can’t afford even 

somewhat reduced market rents for new housing.12  In plain terms, a family that can only 

afford $1,200 or $1,500 per month for a two-bedroom apartment will never benefit from a 

reduction in new-build market rents from $4,000 to $3,500, or even to $2,000 - a very 

unlikely scenario.  If rents at older units have also risen, middle and lower income tenants 

have no place to go.   

 

The supply of new market-built housing will also always be limited by the need to cover 

construction and other development costs.  For-profit developers simply will not build 

housing that doesn’t generate the returns they require - for banks and investors to provide 

the capital to build, and for their own need to generate profits.  This is true even when 

significant demand for housing persists.  If those who need housing can’t pay rents that will 

cover the cost of construction, capital and profits, no amount of demand will generate new 

for-profit development.    

 

In the Bay Area’s exploding job market, with people coming to the region to take jobs at 

both higher and lower wages, new market-rate construction will at best absorb some of the 

demand from high wage workers and may reduce pressure to gentrify older 

neighborhoods.  But it will not result in a flood of new market rate units and deeply 

reduced prices to meet the increased demand from the growing numbers of  lower-wage 

workers who also need to be housed, or from those who have been displaced through 

gentrification.  

 

                                                 
12 The State of the Nation’s Housing. Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University (2018), p. 19 
-21, 
http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard_JCHS_State_of_the_Nations_Housing_2018.pdf  

Page 18 of 36

http://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/Harvard_JCHS_State_of_the_Nations_Housing_2018.pdf


         Page 11 

 

High-wage jobs make up a majority of Bay Area jobs, but low-wage jobs are growing at a 

much faster rate. Approximately 90,000 low-wage jobs were added from 2016 to 2017 in 

the Bay Area, while the number of high-wage jobs decreased over the same time period.13  

This means that new market-rate construction will not result in lower rents for most 

tenants, and indeed market rents are likely to continue to increase in older housing as well.  

Only reserved affordable or subsidized housing can meet the needs of families and 

individuals with incomes at moderate and low levels.  

 

The question before us is whether we will let market forces decide who can reside in Berkeley, 

ultimately reserving it for those with high incomes and wealth, or whether we want to 

reshape the market so Berkeley can remain accessible to people of all backgrounds and 

incomes, who are essential to the life and vibrancy of our city. 

  

IV.  AFFORDABLE HOUSING IN BERKELEY - AN OVERVIEW 
 

Berkeley today has about 49,000 housing units. About 2,500 of these are required to be 

permanently affordable to low- and moderate-income people.   

This is done either through  

● Government subsidies to create affordable apartments reserved for low-income 

residents at below-market rates and 

● Land use regulations that require developers to set aside a certain percentage of 

apartments at rents affordable to low- and moderate-income families or individuals.  

 

A fortunate minority of about 2,100 tenant households live in newer or recently renovated 

rental housing, mostly owned by non-profit housing organizations or limited or non-equity 

cooperatives, where the government has paid all or part of the cost of construction and 

rents greatly reduced. The non-profit organizations that own this housing have 

affordability as their mission, and in many cases rents only need to cover the ongoing costs 

of operation and maintenance and a set-aside for future repairs, typically $600 to $800 a 

month. Many of Berkeley’s lowest-income residents can’t afford even the greatly reduced 

“operating cost” rents offered by non-profit housing where government has paid the costs 

of construction. They require additional subsidy, either to the individual family or as an 

operating cost subsidy to the building owner. The Federal Section 8 program enables a 

family to pay 30% of its income for rent, with the government paying an additional amount 

to reach a “fair market rent”.  Several hundred of the Berkeley Housing Authority’s Section 

8 vouchers are currently allocated to non-profit housing to make units affordable to very 

low-income people.   

 

                                                 
13 MTC, Jobs by Wage Level, https://www.vitalsigns.mtc.ca.gov/jobs-wage-level 

Page 19 of 36

https://www.vitalsigns.mtc.ca.gov/jobs-wage-level


Page 12 

There are another approximately 400  “inclusionary” units within newer for-profit 

buildings that are set aside for low- and moderate-income tenants pursuant to City zoning 

regulations.14 Nearly half of these units are set aside for very low-income tenants receiving 

assistance through the Section 8 program. Most of these apartments are required to be kept 

affordable for the life of the building, but the rent-setting formula they are subject to is 

based on the “Area Median Income” (AMI), which does not fully guarantee affordability. 

The formula, determined by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 

results in rents that increase faster than the incomes of many low-income people.15  This is 

because AMI, based on an average of all regional wages, increases rapidly when more high-

income people move into the area and displace lower-income people, rather than, for 

example, tracking increases in wages for low income workers, which rise much more 

slowly over time than the average of all wages - if at all.16  

In addition to buildings with below-market rents, about 1,500 tenant households in 

Berkeley receive monthly rental assistance through the Federal Government’s Section 8 

program, which is administered by the Berkeley Housing Authority (BHA). Over 200 

authorized Section 8 vouchers go unused because the Federal government does not fund 

the BHA at an amount adequate to enable tenants to pay market rents and cover the cost of 

all of its vouchers. Instead, the BHA has to choose between paying a competitive rent but 

restricting the number of households it can support, or subsidizing more households but 

falling behind the market and risking having landlords leave the program. About one 

quarter of the units occupied by tenants assisted through the BHA are in non-profit or 

inclusionary housing as described above, but three quarters are in for-profit housing. When 

Federal subsidies fall behind the market, owners of these units often leave the program and 

rent to much higher income residents at market rate.  

Many extremely low-income people need ongoing social and health services in order to live 

independently. The term used to describe housing with services formally tied to or 

operated from the building, unit or tenant is “supportive housing.”17  The Federal “Shelter 

Plus Care” supportive housing program administered by the City of Berkeley assists about 

260 formerly homeless households with a combination of rent subsidy and ongoing social 

services. About half of the tenants assisted through the Shelter Plus Care program are 

14 Apartment Buildings with City of Berkeley BMR Program Units, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/2017-
07%20BMR%20list%20of%20properties.pdf
15 U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, Income Limits, 
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il.html
16 Low-Wage Work in California Data Explorer, UC Berkeley Labor Center, 
http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/low-wage-work-in-california/
17 United States Interagency Council on Homelessness, Supportive Housing, 
https://www.usich.gov/solutions/housing/supportive-housing/

Page 20 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/2017-07%20BMR%20list%20of%20properties.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/2017-07%20BMR%20list%20of%20properties.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/il.html
http://laborcenter.berkeley.edu/low-wage-work-in-california/
https://www.usich.gov/solutions/housing/supportive-housing/


         Page 13 

 

placed outside of Berkeley due to the difficulty of finding places in Berkeley, but still 

receive services from Berkeley.  

 

Berkeley thus has approximately 4,000 tenants who live in housing which is reserved for 

low- and moderate-income people at affordable rents or are provided with on-going 

subsidies that enable them to pay market rents. With the additional funding provided by 

measures O, P and U1, the City should be able to increase this number to over 5,000 and 

reach its goal of having 10% of its housing reserved affordable for low- and moderate-

income people. 

 

This goal does not include the tenants covered by rent stabilization (“rent control”). Due to 

the extraordinary rent increases of the last several years, there are several thousand 

tenants with rents that are now significantly below current market rates, but these units 

are only kept affordable for the tenant who lives there now.18 Once the tenant moves out, 

the rent is reset to current market rates, so that apartments in Berkeley are increasingly 

rented to higher-income tenants who can better afford our rapidly increasing rents. 

 

Under the vacancy decontrol provisions imposed on Berkeley by the State legislature, as 

tenants in deeply affordable rent controlled units move out, rents can be, and usually are, 

increased to current market levels. These apartments thus experience huge rent increases - 

reset to market rates - resulting in a significant loss of affordable housing for Berkeley. 

Pressure for landlords to evict or otherwise incentivize these long term rent stabilized 

tenants to move is strong; these are the kinds of vulnerable tenants whose stories we hear 

when Berkeley’s housing retention service providers testify before the City Council.  

 

As a result of these and other pressures, Berkeley will have to work hard to maintain its 

current level of economic diversity.  

 

Maintaining diversity requires Berkeley to both increase the supply of housing overall and to 

remove a substantial part of our housing, new and existing, from the speculative market. This 

protected affordable housing should be allocated on the basis of need, using techniques 

ranging from non-profit and community ownership to regulation of rents (through 

traditional rent control and dedicated affordable units), and creation of new forms of home 

ownership that ensure homes will remain affordable now, and for future generations.  

 

                                                 
18 Bursell, Lief and Fabish, Jen. Market Medians: January 1999 through December 2018. Rent 
Stabilization Board. 21 March 2019, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-
_General/INFO_Market%20Medians%20Report%20for%20Q3%20and%20Q4%20of%202018.pdf  

Page 21 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-_General/INFO_Market%20Medians%20Report%20for%20Q3%20and%20Q4%20of%202018.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Rent_Stabilization_Board/Level_3_-_General/INFO_Market%20Medians%20Report%20for%20Q3%20and%20Q4%20of%202018.pdf


Page 14 

V. EXISTING AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMS AND NEW OR EXPANDED
OPPORTUNITIES

Introduction: 
The City of Berkeley has the opportunity to build on its current programs and to expand in 

new directions to better deal with its housing affordability crisis. This chapter begins with  

a brief listing of current programs and new opportunities and then examines each in more 

detail. These goals are intended to allow Berkeley to make the changes it needs in order to 

preserve its character as a diverse and creative community, and meet its 10% affordability 

goal.  As we move forward it will be important to maintain a balance between all of them.  

Major Existing Programs - Recommend to Expand: 

1. Constructing New Non-Profit Affordable Units
Through the Housing Trust Fund the City provides capital to non-profit housing

developers to construct multi-family buildings, usually on or near major transit

corridors and downtown. These projects qualify for additional State and Federal

subsidies and offer maximum leverage for Berkeley dollars while increasing the

supply of modern, accessible, energy efficient and green housing affordable to

lower-income residents.

New non-profit developments are currently the main housing affordability strategy 

in the City of Berkeley, and primarily serve very low-income people with incomes 

ranging from 30% to 60% of Area Median Income.  For one person in Alameda 

County, 30% of AMI is $26,050 and 60% is $52,080, while for a family of four, 30% 

of AMI is $37,150 and 60% is $74,340.19 These are predominantly lower-wage 

working people or people with low retirement or disability incomes, but there are 

many people with incomes even lower.  Serving people with incomes below 30% of 

AMI requires additional subsidy.  Some non-profit housing developments include 

supportive services on site for the formerly homeless, people with disabilities and 

seniors.  

19 HUD Income Guidelines, Effective April 24, 2019, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Payment_Standards,_Income_Limits,_and_Utility_Allowance.a
spx

Page 22 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Payment_Standards,_Income_Limits,_and_Utility_Allowance.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Payment_Standards,_Income_Limits,_and_Utility_Allowance.aspx


Page 15 

Opportunities for Expansion: 
This method of achieving housing affordability is the easiest to expand with new 

resources from Measure O. The City already has the knowledge and experience to 

successfully execute these projects and there are several large,trusted local non-

profit housing developers to work with. While new construction is extremely 

expensive, local funding can draw matching dollars from the Federal government 

(mostly Low-Income Housing Tax Credits), the State (from cap and trade revenue, 

state housing bonds, and many other sources), and from the Alameda County 

Housing Bond (Measure A1).  Together, outside sources of funding can leverage 

Berkeley dollars up to 5:1, allowing Berkeley’s investment of local dollars to 

generate significantly more units than would otherwise be possible.   

In general, County, State and Federal funding sources require that the residents of 

subsidized housing have incomes at or below 60% of AMI, meaning these 

developments serve mostly low and extremely low income residents.  In today’s Bay 

Area economy, teachers (average annual salary $71,738), personal care providers 

(average annual salary $33,332), and administrative assistants, (average salary of 

$51,991) would be eligible for this type of housing, as well as individuals living on 

Social Security for the elderly or disabled. 

2. Rent and Eviction Protections
Berkeley has extensive regulatory protections for tenants of rental housing through

the Rent Stabilization and Eviction for Good Cause Ordinance (“Rent Control”) and

the Rent Stabilization Board, which provides legal assistance to tenants facing

eviction. The City also protects rent controlled units through restrictions on

demolition, conversion of rental properties to condominiums and short-term

rentals, and other protections.

Opportunities for Expansion:
Without changes to State laws, Berkeley is limited in its ability to achieve stability 

for renters and to increase protections for rent controlled housing and tenants. The 

Ellis Act allows landlords to go out of the rental business by evicting all the tenants 

in a building rather than selling it to another owner who will maintain the property 

as a rental. It serves no legitimate purpose and should be repealed.  The State of 

California’s Costa-Hawkins Act, which instituted “vacancy decontrol,” allows rents to 

be reset to market rates upon conclusion of each tenancy, denying Berkeley and 

other cities the power to limit increases to a fixed percentage when units turn over. 

It also prevents regulation of rents in buildings constructed after 1979 and 

Page 23 of 36

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/lihtc.html
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-funding/active-funding/index.shtml
https://www.acgov.org/cda/hcd/bond.htm


         Page 16 

 

regulation of rents in single-unit properties, even when owned by large corporate 

landlords.  These prohibitions should be revised or repealed. 

  

3. Affordable Housing Fees and Inclusionary Requirements for For-Profit 
Developments  
The Downtown and major transit corridors have been rezoned to encourage private 

construction that adds to the supply of market-rate housing while also requiring 

new rental developments to either include a certain percentage of apartments at 

below-market rents (formerly 10% and now 20% of units)20 or pay into the Housing 

Trust Fund (HTF) to support non-profit housing development ($37,962 per market-

rate unit built as of July 2018).21  There are similar inclusionary requirements and 

fees for condominiums22.  Currently, for market rate rental developments, the 20% 

inclusionary units required must be affordable to people with very low incomes, no 

greater than 50% of AMI, and half of them (10% of all units in the building) must 

first be offered to tenants receiving Section 8 housing assistance or in Berkeley’s 

Shelter Plus Care Program.   
 

Opportunities for Expansion: 
At present, the City offers developers a choice between paying an affordable housing 

mitigation fee or providing below-market rate units as part of the project. When fees 

were one of Berkeley’s most important sources of revenue for the Housing Trust 

Fund it made sense to have both alternatives, and opinions have differed (with 

worthy arguments made on both sides) as to whether it was better for the City to 

obtain money for the Affordable Housing Trust Fund or for affordable units to be 

built on site.  

 

The traditional argument in favor of obtaining the affordable housing fee from a 

market rate development rather than on-site inclusionary units is that local 

affordable housing dollars can be significantly leveraged with other public dollars to 

net many more affordable units within an all-affordable project built at another 

location.  The argument in favor of obtaining the on-site inclusionary units has been 

that it ensures low-income residents are integrated within mixed-income 

neighborhoods and buildings, that affordable units are built right away, not at some 

future unknown time and location. In neighborhoods with few opportunity sites for 

affordable housing such as the Downtown, including affordable units within market 

rate developments is often the only way to achieve affordability.   

                                                 
20 Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23C.12 Inclusionary Housing Requirements 
21 Berkeley Municipal Code Section 22.20.065 Affordable housing mitigation fee 
22 Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 21.28 Condominiums and Other Common Interest Subdivisions 

Page 24 of 36



         Page 17 

 

 

With $135 million in Measure O funds available to be leveraged with other public 

monies to support the creation and preservation of deeply affordable units (serving 

individuals with incomes up to 60% of AMI), the relatively small sums that 

mitigation fees generate are less important to the overall success of Berkeley’s 

affordable housing strategies.  By requiring market rate developments to include 

affordable units on site rather than pay a mitigation fee, Berkeley can achieve the 

goals of integration and dispersal without significant impacts to our ability to fund 

all-affordable projects.   

 

In addition, with inclusionary units now just one part of a multifaceted affordable 

housing strategy, the possibility of  requiring a different mix and number of on-site 

affordable units should be considered.  One alternative or supplemental formula for 

inclusionary unit requirements in market rate developments would be to offer 

developers the opportunity to produce low- and moderate-income units (affordable 

to people with incomes between 80% and 120% of AMI) rather than the currently 

required deeply affordable units (below 80% AMI), but at higher percentages of the 

project than the current 20%.  It is likely that market rate developments could 

include 30%, 40% and possibly higher percentages of units at low and moderate 

rates and still return a reasonable profit.  Because there are fewer County, State and 

Federal funds for low- and moderate-income units than very- and extremely-low, 

asking market rate developers to subsidize low and moderate income units may be a 

good strategy to achieve a greater mix of affordability levels Citywide and gain more 

permanently affordable units overall.  

 

4. Direct Subsidies to Renters 
Berkeley provides individual rent subsidies through the Berkeley Housing 

Authority, which assists 1,600 Berkeley households with Federally funded Section 8 

housing vouchers, and the City operates a Federally funded Shelter Plus Care 

program that provides monthly rental assistance and social service support to 

around 200 formerly homeless Berkeley residents, about half of them having chosen 

housing outside of Berkeley due to the difficulty of finding places in Berkeley.  
 

Opportunities for Expansion:  
Measure P funds could be used for this purpose if recommended by the Homeless 

Services Panel of Experts, and other City funds might be applied to expand direct 

renter subsidies and “rapid rehousing,” as is proposed in the City’s 1,000 Person 

Plan to Address Homelessness.  

  

Page 25 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/bha/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/bha/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/bha/
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Section_8_Housing_Choice_Voucher_Program.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Section_8_Housing_Choice_Voucher_Program.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BHA/Home/Section_8_Housing_Choice_Voucher_Program.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/ContentDisplay.aspx?id=5562
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx
https://www.google.com/url?client=internal-uds-cse&cx=017385055954264103894:kn5xiwd8ubm&q=https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2019/02_Feb/Documents/2019-02-26_Item_20_Referral_Response__1000_Person_Plan.aspx&sa=U&ved=2ahUKEwjN4ZzBvbLiAhXpw1QKHSH6DxoQFjAAegQIAxAC&usg=AOvVaw0xMaQsvG3NXgmXFE5Nsdcn


         Page 18 

 

Additional Important Programs - Recommend to Significantly Expand: 
There are several additional strategies that the City should expand substantially as they 

offer excellent opportunities to create and preserve affordable rental and ownership 

housing aligned with Berkeley values.  Some of these strategies require capacity-building 

within City Departments and in non-profit partners.  These programs should be 

significantly strengthened and expanded:  

 

1. House and Support the Homeless 
In response to the Pathways Project, staff prepared a 1000 Person Plan to Address 

Homelessness, which considered resources and interventions required to house the 

currently unhoused population of Berkeley and to prevent inflow of future 

homelessness. According to the Plan, ending homelessness will require targeted 

investments in various interventions to ensure that each individual experiencing 

homelessness receives an appropriate, timely response according to their needs, 

including targeted homelessness prevention, light-touch housing problem-solving, 

rapid rehousing, or permanent subsidies. In addition, the Homeless Services Panel 

of Experts will provide an essential source of guidance in developing effective 

strategies to prevent and end homelessness in Berkeley. 

 

In general, people with extremely low incomes (at or below 30% of AMI), are unable 

to afford even the below-market rent that a non-profit housing provider needs in 

order to cover operating and maintenance expenses. People living on Social Security 

for the elderly or disabled have incomes of 14% to 20% of AMI ($932 a month for an 

individual, $1,564 a month for a couple). This means that under Federal standards 

they can “afford” only $280 to $470 a month for housing, and even that is a hardship 

considering how little income they start with. 

 

The Housing Trust Fund Guidelines call for 20% of housing funded through the HTF 

to be affordable to people with incomes at or below 30% of AMI, but non-profit 

housing organizations have had difficulty obtaining ongoing subsidies to create 

housing at this level of affordability.23  The City has been forced to rely on limited 

Federal funding - especially project-based Section 8 through the Berkeley Housing 

Authority. 

 

  

                                                 
23 City of Berkeley Housing Trust Fund Guidelines, April 5, 2016, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-
_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf  

Page 26 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/uploadedFiles/Housing/Level_3_-_General/Revised%202016%20HTF%20GUIDELINES.pdf


         Page 19 

 

Opportunities for Expansion:  
Measure P funding has the potential to fill this gap and to encourage non-profit 

housing providers to increase their service to the homeless, as discussed in the 

1,000 Person Plan to address homelessness. 

 

Measure P funding will vary somewhat from year to year because it is based on the 

value of the top ⅓ of real estate transactions in a given year. For this reason, the City 

should allocate only a portion of initial Measure P receipts to ongoing subsidies and 

supportive services, so that it can be sure it can sustain those commitments from 

year to year.  The amount that is likely to vary from year to year, perhaps one-

quarter to one-third (Finance Department staff may be able to provide an accurate 

estimate, based on historical data regarding fluctuations), should then go to one-

time expenditures such as capital subsidies to expand the supply of permanently 

affordable housing available to the homeless. For example, in the Berkeley Way 

project, the City has agreed to provide a capital fund that will cover 10 years of 

operating subsidies. 

 

The 1000 Person Plan covers in detail strategies necessary to rehouse Berkeley’s 

homeless.  Creation of deeply affordable housing is one element of this Plan.  The 

Homeless Services Panel of Experts will make recommendations regarding the use 

of Measure P funds, which may be used to fund the “support” in Supportive Housing, 

and for many other purposes.    

 

2. Transition some of Berkeley’s existing rental housing to permanently 
affordable social ownership by expanding the Small Sites Program, 
accompanied by a Tenant or Community Opportunity to Purchase Act.  
Most of Berkeley’s neighborhoods used to house people with diverse incomes, but 

the affordability crisis is reducing that diversity24. Preservation of neighborhood 

socioeconomic character will require transitioning some existing housing from the 

for-profit market to various forms of socially responsible ownership intended to 

maintain affordability. Last year the City Council allocated an initial one million 

dollars to start a Small Sites Program and begin the process of supporting 

acquisition and rehabilitation of properties with up to 25 units. The Small Sites 

Program will provide funds to non-profit developers to allow for the acquisition of 

small multi-unit properties vulnerable to real estate speculation, and reserve them 

                                                 
24 Romem, Issa and Elizabeth Kneebone, 2018. “Disparity in Departure: Who Leaves the Bay Area and 
Where Do They Go?” https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/disparity-in-departure  

Page 27 of 36

https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/disparity-in-departure


         Page 20 

 

for low-income individuals and families. This process is also an opportunity to 

expand limited equity cooperative ownership.25  

 

The Small Sites program requires a different approach from the City’s current focus 

on partnership with large non-profit housing developers. Two-thirds of the rental 

housing covered by rent stabilization has less than 20 units. The large non-profit 

housing organizations avoid properties with less than 20 units because these 

buildings have higher management costs and are generally more costly to finance 

than larger developments. In addition, non-profit developers tend to prefer new 

construction to the uncertainties of acquisition and rehabilitation of existing 

buildings.  Cost-effective management of smaller properties can be provided when 

residents take on significant responsibility for the property and receive appropriate 

education and support.  

 

Another current barrier to the Small Sites Program is that residents of small 

buildings often have a mix of incomes, which reduces the available subsidies under 

Federal and State programs that limit assistance to units occupied by people with 

incomes no greater than 60% AMI.  Local funding can make an important 

contribution to the Small Sites Program. 

  

Opportunities for Expansion: 
Measure O and Measure U1 both offer funds that can be used for small sites with 

mixed-income residents. The City should substantially increase its efforts to 

transition existing small apartment buildings to permanent affordability.  The Small 

Sites Program should be tied to a Tenant or Community Opportunity to Purchase 

Act (TOPA or COPA) to enable groups of existing tenants or non-profit partners to 

buy and maintain this naturally occurring affordable housing and prevent 

displacement. Through a TOPA, landlords must provide legal notice to tenants of 

their opportunity to purchase a property when it is placed on the market. If a tenant 

or tenants decide to purchase, they must form a tenant organization to manage the 

building, and take one other management responsibilities. This model has seen 

success in other communities, including Washington D.C.26  

  

                                                 
25 City of Berkeley, Referral to City Manager, Establishment of Affordable Housing Small Sites Fund, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-
15_Item_54_Referral_to_City_Manager_Establishment_-_Rev.aspx  
26 Small Sites Acquisition Program and Tenant Opportunity to Purchase, February 14, 2017, 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-
14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx  

Page 28 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-15_Item_54_Referral_to_City_Manager_Establishment_-_Rev.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2015/12_Dec/Documents/2015-12-15_Item_54_Referral_to_City_Manager_Establishment_-_Rev.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/02_Feb/Documents/2017-02-14_Item_18b_Small_Sites_Acquisition.aspx


         Page 21 

 

3. Provide innovative homeownership opportunities for moderate and 
low income residents, including cooperative ownership using the 
Community Land Trust model 
By taking on full or partial responsibility for management of a property, residents 

strengthen their community. In years past, Berkeley had programs to support both 

individual and cooperative homeownership.  At a time when working families can 

no longer afford to buy homes in Berkeley, the City should give renewed attention to 

resident ownership and participation. 

 

Berkeley currently has about 300 units in limited-equity and non-equity 

cooperatives, half of these established without City assistance at a time when real 

estate values were much lower. Encouraging residents to take ownership or 

responsibility for the operation and management of their housing, while keeping it 

permanently affordable, was an important part of Berkeley’s housing programs in 

the 1970s through the 1990s.  Unfortunately, since then this model has received 

little attention.27 Current housing programs miss opportunities to  build democratic 

organizations in which people learn organizational skills and collaborative problem 

solving, and have input into the management and physical condition of their homes, 

a model sometimes referred to as “social housing.” 

 

Berkeley has no currently active programs to create individual or cooperative 

homeownership opportunities, in part because it is difficult to combine the use of 

Low-Income Housing Tax Credits with resident ownership.  Measure O and Measure 

U1 both provide funding that can be used to support cooperative homeownership 

and community land trusts.  

 

Individual homeownership opportunities:  Although they are few in number, 

Berkeley has some small parcels of publicly owned land embedded in 

neighborhoods that may be suitable for townhouse-style or other low-rise homes. In 

order to preserve affordability, the City should either retain ownership of the land 

or convey it to a community land trust, rather than selling it outright. Working with 

Habitat for Humanity or a similar organization could reduce the cost of construction 

and increase affordability for these units.  

  

  

                                                 
27 S. Barton, “From Community Control to Professionalism: Social Housing in Berkeley, California, 1976 – 
2011”, Journal of Planning History, May 2014, V.13:2, pp. 160 – 182. 

Page 29 of 36



         Page 22 

 

Cooperative homeownership opportunities:  Limited-equity and non-equity 

housing cooperatives provide an affordable, democratic version of homeownership 

in which a property is owned by a nonprofit cooperative corporation, made up of 

tenants of the property. Initial capital subsidy makes them permanently affordable 

to very low, low and moderate-income people. When the residents take 

responsibility for the management of their buildings they can keep costs down, 

which makes cooperatives suitable for small multi-family properties. 

 

Importance of affiliation with a Community Land Trust or larger 
cooperative:  Experience has shown that housing cooperatives need ongoing 

training, technical assistance and oversight from a larger organization. This larger 

organization can be a Community Land Trust, which owns the land under the 

cooperatively owned buildings or, in the case of the Berkeley Student Cooperative, a 

larger cooperative that maintains and renovates affiliated properties while 

supporting residents in operating their individual buildings.  Measure U1 monies 

could be used to provide organizational support to strengthen the capacity of local 

land trusts, which at present are relatively small organizations. In 2018 the City 

Council used U1 funds to provide a small capacity-building grant to the Berkeley-

based Bay Area Community Land Trust.  

 

It will be necessary to expand the organizational capacity of Berkeley’s land trust to 

support a larger program utilizing this model. Community Land Trusts receiving 

support from the City of Berkeley should be required to meet the Federal definition 

of a Community Land Trust (Housing and Community Development Act of 1992, 

Section 213, Housing Education and Organizational Support for Community Land 

Trusts), which ensures that residents of affiliated properties serve on the land trust 

governing board.28 

 

Other models - Challenges:  Berkeley has an inclusionary requirement for 

condominium developments and there are currently a small number of below-

market condominiums reserved for low-income owners. Caution is needed in 

creating low-income condominiums because rising monthly assessments and 

occasional special assessments for major renovations can become unaffordable for 

lower-income owners.  

 

In addition, residents can misunderstand the condominium form of ownership and 

underestimate the need to work cooperatively with other owners. Cooperatives are 

                                                 
28 HR 5334- Housing and Community Development Act of 1992, Section 213. 
https://www.congress.gov/bill/102nd-congress/house-bill/5334/text 

Page 30 of 36

https://www.congress.gov/bill/102nd-congress/house-bill/5334/text


         Page 23 

 

less likely to have this problem. In the past, the City provided down-payment 

assistance on a shared-equity basis (meaning that the owners of the cooperatives 

had to repay a portion of the property’s value at sale), but the cost of single-family 

homes has far surpassed the City’s ability to provide effective down-payment 

assistance. As described above, several useful models exist to support 

homeownership without these challenges, and should be included in Berkeley’s 

affordable housing mix.  

 

4. Significantly increase the supply of affordable live-work housing for 
artists and artisans. 
Berkeley has a long tradition of live-work housing, mostly located in West Berkeley, 

and much of it lacking legal recognition. There are only a few units of permanently 

affordable live-work housing citywide. In part this is because it is difficult to use 

State and Federal subsidies for this purpose.  In addition, certain subsidy program 

regulations make it difficult to allocate live-work housing to the artists and artisans 

that it is intended for.   

 

As an alternative, live-work housing can easily be organized to include resident 

ownership or resident participation in property management. 

 

Opportunities for Expansion: 
Live-work units are allowed in most of Berkeley’s Commercial and Manufacturing 

districts.  Measure O and Measure U1 both provide funding that can be used for 

affordable artists and artisan live-work housing using ownership or other 

participatory models. The City also has the potential to require affordable live-work 

units, or provision of land for such units, as part of development approvals 

throughout Berkeley.     

 

5. Encourage adding incremental units, such as accessory dwelling units 
(ADUs) or low-rise multiplex units, that complement neighborhood 
character.  
There are many opportunities to add one, two or more units to existing properties 

at relatively modest cost. When sold as condominiums such units can be affordable 

to middle-income families who have difficulty entering the current market for 

single-family homes.  Accessory dwelling units (ADUs), even rented at market rate, 

can also be affordable to middle income individuals. In addition, low-rise multi-

family housing such as duplexes, triplexes, courtyard apartments, and multiplexes 

can also be inserted into existing neighborhoods, and may provide additional 

opportunities for middle-income families to enter the housing market. 

Page 31 of 36



         Page 24 

 

 

Opportunities for Expansion: 
Where possible, the City should encourage addition of family-sized units as well as 

smaller ADUs.  The City Council recently approved a referral to study the possibility 

of allowing up to four-plexes into areas currently zoned for a single family home and 

ADU.  These housing types are already allowed in most other zones.  Modest 

incentives such as expedited review of applications, low interest loans or small 

capital subsidies may be sufficient to persuade property owners who add such units 

to reserve them for lower-income families.   These incentives should be explored, 

and a program developed to support the reservation of additional neighborhood 

units for affordable housing. 

  

6. Partner with UC Berkeley to support creation of housing appropriate 
and affordable to students, faculty and staff. 
Enrollment increases that far exceed UC Berkeley’s Long Range Development Plan 

have resulted in an extreme shortage of student housing and a very high incidence 

of student housing insecurity and homelessness, while the general housing 

affordability crisis forces faculty and staff to live far from campus.  

 

The University of California should take greater responsibility for housing its 

students. This will require the Regents to allocate more funding for student, faculty 

and staff housing and the State legislature to include this funding in the State 

budget. In addition, the Regents must stop the practice of increasing enrollment 

without regard for the carrying capacity of both UC Berkeley and the City of 

Berkeley.  

 

Opportunities for Expansion: 
The Berkeley Student Cooperative serves students in community college and the Cal 

State system as well as at U.C. Berkeley. It is eligible for funding through the Housing 

Trust Fund and some Measure O funding could be used to help purchase existing 

buildings near campus to make them permanently affordable to their student 

residents, who predominantly come from low-income families.  While the City of 

Berkeley may choose to allocate some Housing Trust Funds to student housing, the 

University of California should provide the vast majority of funding for this 

important type of housing, as it is the University’s responsibility to ensure their 

students are housed.  

 

Page 32 of 36



Page 25 

Policies to Ensure Equity and Sustainability: 
Finally, while pursuing these strategies, there are several principles of equity and 

sustainability that the City should apply to all of its affordable housing programs: 

1. Ensure equitable access to scarce affordable housing, including
accessible units with universal design features.
Berkeley makes very limited use of City-established priorities in the allocation of

affordable housing. In part this is due to the rules attached to State and Federal

funding and in part to potential City administrative costs. A lack of State or local

definitions of universal design also makes it difficult to adequately review projects

for accessibility.

Opportunities: 
Housing units with universal design elements that ensure access for those with 

mobility limitations should be included in all City-supported affordable housing.  To 

support this, Berkeley should codify both baseline and enhanced universal design 

housing elements.  In addition, to the extent legally allowable, Berkeley should 

establish a set of priorities for access to below-market rate housing. These priorities 

could include (but not be limited to): 

■ People at risk of displacement or who have been displaced from Berkeley, in

particular those who have been subject to redlining or other discriminatory

housing and lending practices in the past, including foreclosures;

■ People who formerly experienced homelessnes in Berkeley;

■ Artists and artisans who need live-work spaces;

■ Families with children in Berkeley schools; and

■ People who work in Berkeley; in particular those who work for the Berkeley

Unified School District or in emergency services (firefighters, doctors, police,

nurses, etc.).

2. Codify Deep Green Building standards for healthy and sustainable
buildings, and emphasize other measures to increase environmental
sustainability.

Berkeley Deep Green Building is an ambitious program designed by building and

clean energy professionals and environmentally-minded citizens as part of the

Berkeley Zero Net Energy++ Working Group. It sets forward a detailed plan to

incentivize these and other green and healthy building practices. The five goals of

Berkeley Deep Green Building are to:

1. Support zero-net energy at the individual building and community scale;

2. Reduce embodied energy in building materials and practices;

Page 33 of 36



         Page 26 

 

3.    Reduce toxicity in building materials; 

4.    Source sustainability produced materials from fair trade, fair wage and 

culturally and environmentally friendly suppliers; and 

5.    Conserve water. 

 

Some of these goals are already addressed in City codes and policies; some require 

expansion or codification.   

 

The City of Berkeley has a variety of programs and Building and Zoning Code 

provisions that seek to address green building. These include energy efficiency 

audits under the Building Energy Saving Ordinance (BESO), LEED gold standards for 

larger downtown buildings, Bay-friendly landscaping for projects over a certain size, 

and stormwater and waste management during construction.29  In addition, a 

number of solar, energy efficiency and other green building proposals have been 

referred to the City Manager over time, but have not yet been implemented.  

Pending codification or implementation, affordable projects should strive to meet all 

Deep Green Building and other state of the art green building practices. 

 

Building affordable units near transit is also an environmental strategy.  This is 

especially true when parking is reduced or eliminated. Because lower-income 

people use transit at significantly higher rates than people with higher incomes, 

siting affordable housing near transit can yield increased ridership - and reduce the 

displacement of lower-income households.   A UCLA study of the effects of Transit 

Oriented Development on transit use in Los Angeles found that allowing market-

rate housing with parking near transit contributed to a significant reduction in 

transit use.   , Lower income people who previously rode transit were displaced to 

the outer reaches of the region, and were forced to commute long distances, often by 

car.  They were replaced in their previous transit-rich neighborhoods with more 

affluent people who can afford cars and use  transit much less frequently, resulting 

in large reductions in transit use citywide, despite massive public transit 

investments and the creation of significant new transit-oriented housing.  30  

 

3. Prioritize the use of public land for the creation of affordable housing. 
Land is expensive in Berkeley and securing appropriate sites for affordable housing 

is costly and difficult.  The City owns several sites which may be appropriate for 

affordable housing development.  Other parcels may also be eligible for housing but 

                                                 
29 Building Energy Saving Ordinance, https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/. 
30 “Transit-oriented development? More like transit rider displacement,” L.A. Times, Feb. 20, 2018,  
https://www.latimes.com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-rosenthal-transit-gentrification-metro-ridership-20180220-
story.html 

Page 34 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/BESO/
https://www.latimes.com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-rosenthal-transit-gentrification-metro-ridership-20180220-story.html
https://www.latimes.com/opinion/op-ed/la-oe-rosenthal-transit-gentrification-metro-ridership-20180220-story.html


         Page 27 

 

would require remediation.  In 2017, the City purchased a property at 1001 - 1011 

University Avenue, with the express intention of converting the property for use as 

affordable housing.31  The City should take steps to offer whatever public land is 

available, appropriate and safe to qualified affordable housing projects. 

 

4. Ensure those who build and rehabilitate our housing are paid  
fair wages and have access to health insurance, and support local  
apprenticeship programs. 
As in the entire Bay Area, there is a severe shortage of skilled construction workers 

in Berkeley, partly because their wages are often insufficient to allow them to live in 

the very buildings they help construct. Berkeley contributes to solving this problem 

by requiring builders of City-assisted housing to pay their workers prevailing wage 

(the hourly wage paid to the most workers in an area working on similar jobs) and 

through project labor agreements in areas of the City with community benefit 

requirements. Labor organizations are, for their part, supporting construction of 

modular, factory-built housing that can modestly reduce construction costs. 

Additional approaches should include stronger protections against wage theft, 

expanded apprenticeship programs that help local residents start careers in 

construction and policies ensuring that workers on large projects receive adequate 

benefits.  Healthcare is particularly important for construction workers; by its 

nature construction work is physically demanding.  Injuries and physical stress are 

frequent, even on well-managed sites. 
 

5. Make changes to the City of Berkeley Zoning Code and project approvals  
processes to incentivize, facilitate and reward the production of 
affordable housing.  
The City has taken a number of steps to incentivize and facilitate the production of 

affordable housing. Affordable projects receiving Housing Trust Fund monies are 

automatically expedited and prioritized for permits, inspections, and other City of 

Berkeley administrative processes.32 Additional referrals have been made to reduce 

development fees for affordable projects, create additional density bonuses for 

affordable projects, and otherwise ease restrictions on affordable projects.  The 

State Density Bonus program provides significant benefits to projects that build 

                                                 
31 Acquisition of Real Property at 1001 University Avenue, 1007 University Avenue, 1011 University 
Avenue, and 1925 Ninth Street, March 27, 2017 
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/03_Mar/Documents/2017-03-
28_Item_32_Acquisition_of_Real_Property.aspx  
32 Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 19.62 Priority Permit Processing for Housing for Low and Moderate 
Income Persons 

Page 35 of 36

https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/03_Mar/Documents/2017-03-28_Item_32_Acquisition_of_Real_Property.aspx
https://www.cityofberkeley.info/Clerk/City_Council/2017/03_Mar/Documents/2017-03-28_Item_32_Acquisition_of_Real_Property.aspx


Page 28 

inclusionary units, and affordable projects meeting specific criteria are approved 

“by right” under SB 35.   

In addition to these supports and incentives for affordable projects, the Berkeley 

City Council recently increased the affordable housing mitigation fee to $37,962 per 

market-rate unit. The fee had been set at $28,000 in 2012, “discounted” by the City 

Council to $20,000 in 2013, raised to $34,000 in 2016, and then to the current rate 

in 2017.333435 The City also doubled its inclusionary requirement from 10 to 20% of 

units in all developments with five or more units.36  The City should continue to 

develop and implement policies, programs and regulatory mechanisms to expedite, 

maximize, incentivize and reward the creation and preservation of affordable 

housing.    

VI. CONCLUSION
The Framework for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative Berkeley is a high-level roadmap 

to guide the many City entities involved in moving our affordable housing goals forward.  

As each navigates its own path, all must be headed to the same destination.   

Berkeley has an unprecedented opportunity to significantly increase the City’s stock of 

affordable housing and to preserve the limited affordability that already exists. Housing is a 

human right, and the severity of the Bay Area’s housing crisis calls us to action.  We must 

ensure that our homeless can be rehoused, our vulnerable seniors, youth and disabled 

neighbors remain housed, our dedicated public and not-for-profit workers can make homes 

in our community, and our artistic, activist and academic residents can thrive.  We have a 

duty to ensure that people of all backgrounds, ethnicities, ages, religions, gender identities, 

occupations, and abilities can be, and are, housed in Berkeley.    

We are embarking on a path to achieve 10% reserved affordable housing in Berkeley, and 

to lay the institutional and policy foundations for a future with 30% and eventually up to 

50% affordable or “social” housing.  It’s an exciting and demanding venture, but essential to 

preserve and expand all that makes Berkeley an exceptional place to live, work, learn, play 

and thrive.   

33 Resolution No. 66,809, October 7, 2014 
34 Resolution No. 67,614-N.S., July 12, 2016 
35 Berkeley Municipal Code Section 22.20.065 Affordable Housing Mitigation Fee 
36 Berkeley Municipal Code Chapter 23C.12 inclusionary housing Requirements 

Page 36 of 36


	09-4-19HomelessPanelofExpertsAgenda - final
	MEETING AGENDA
	Commission Secretary:  Peter Radu (981-5435)

	Attachment Packet
	08-14-19 HomelessServicesPanelMinutes-draft
	MEETING MINUTES

	HSPE Budget_A
	HSPE Budget_B
	Moving Forward Skillfully and Quickly Stabilizing Homeless Service and Referral Delivery
	_Integrating Feedback from the Homeless and into Service Excellence Report
	From:  boona cheema, Elliot Halpern, Jiro Arase-Barham, Jacquelyn McCormick

	HSPE Report to Council_final
	Draft HSPE Action Report 08262019

	2019-07-16 Item B Housing for a Diverse, Equitable and Creative




